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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT l7OR THE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

KEY W EST DIVISION

CASE NO. (I8-IOO84-CIV-M ARTINEZ/BROW N

PETER HALM OS, et a1.,
Plaint ï.#'.t

INSURANCE COM PANY OF NORTII

AMERICA, ct a1.
Dqfendants.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

ln t'lw period beginning in 2001 and ending in 2005, Plaintiffs, IYC, HPC and Pcter

Halmos (pro se), allegedly suffcrvd a serits of losscs with rcspcct to certain vessels insured by

Defendant, Insurance Company ofNorth America C1INA''). ()n October 22, 2008, Plaintiffj flled

suit against INA seeking b0th coverage and tht rccovery of expenses incurred as a result of the

variot)s losses under m A's insurance policies. Pcter llalmos sought damages for unjust

cmichmtnt and quamum meruit as a result of the alleged time spent and expense incurred by Mr.

Halmos in his efforts to protect the insured vessel v%Y Legacy and to negotiate, procurc and

comply with Agrtements with NOAA for the relvase of alI natural resource dnmagt claims

concerning the vesscl after Hunicane W ilma.

The operative pleading is the Fourth A. mended Complaint, filed May 5, 201 0 (:TAC'')

(D.E. 6881. Defendant has maintained scveral dcfenscs throughout this litigation, as oflkred most

recently in the Answer and Counterclaim ttl the Fourth Amended Complaint (D.E- . 976'J, On

January 18, 201 1, judgmcnt was entrrcd on various claims and afûrmativc dcfcnscs asserttd in

tbe instant action. See Order on Motions for Summary Judgment (D.E. 12371. The claims that

1
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procceded to trial were: (a) the Sol Claim; (b) the Lvland #l/naer Claim; (c) the gvongoose

Claim; (d) the Legacy - Wilma Claim; (e) Count l 5 (Unjust Enzichmcnt); and (9 Count 16

(Quantum Meruit). This lawsuit was thed before the Court, without a jury. from May 3 to Jun:

15, 201 1.

In rendcring judgment following a non-jury trial, Rult 52(a) requires a district court to

make spccifk findings of fact and to statt conclusions of 1aw separatciy. See Inspiration Yacht

CAfk?'/te.v, lnck, v. lnspiralion Yacht Charters, 11, No. 09-C1V-20472, 20 10 WL 50 1 437 1 (S.D.

Fla. Dcc. 12, 2010). 'l'he Rule tstdoes not require a finding on every contention raistd by thc

partics. but requires the court to provide sum cient detail dtmonstrating that tare was takcn in

ascertaining and analrzing the facts necessary to the decisions and providing tsufficient

particulatity' to facilitate meaningful review.'' 1d. Lciting Feazell v. Ttppicana #r/Jç., lnc., s l 9

F. 2d 1036, 1042 (1 1t14 Cir. 1987)).

n ere was considerablc cnnflicting ttstimony and the Court has utilized and considcrcd

the Eleventh Circuit instruction regarding Credibility of W itnessns in analyzing samt. In

addilion. on numertAus occasions during the testimony of Mr. Halmos. disagrctment ar:sc

regarding whether plaintiffs had documentation to support his testimony that had been givtn to

m A. Defensc counsel demanded to set said documcntation and the Court refuscd to order smne

- 
leaving tht production of such doctlmentation, if it existvd, to thc discretion of the plaintifrs.

The Court made clcar that the failure to produce would not result in a negative infcrtnct. Of

course, the failure to produce left the Court with tbe evidence it had bcfore it . . . in many cases

simply the testimony of-Mr. Halmos, to evaluate. Seet e.g., IJ-J ! 53. n.8,

To be sure, this was a most unusual and unique casc. 'rhe saga endured by plaintit'fs

might well make a script for a book. The ensuing claims addressed by defendant were as far from

t.run of the mill'' as anyone could imaginc. Thc Court is not without sympathy for the ordcal
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ptaintiffs went through. Indecd, the record is full of indicators of sympathy on several frûnts -

including that of at least ont of the adjusttrs handling this case, This clearly contributd to thc

most unusual happrnstancc of - on more than one occasion - tht deftndant paying claims without

supporting. documcntation, simply on the ''sap so'' of Mr, Halmos, and in tht end resultcd in

more than one substantial overpayment. The uncontroverted evidence is that an almost symbiotic

relationship dcveloped betwcen Mr. Halmos and the primary INA adjuster, Pamela Harting-

Forkcy . . . until supporting materials for claims were rcquesttd and claims began to be

questioncd. It then turned quite adveryarial - at least on the part of plaintims. Notwithstanding

said sympathy, howcver, the Court reaches fts decisions herein without being tiinfluenced in any

way by sympathy, or by prcjudice, 'for or against anyone.'' Eltventh Circuit Standard Instruction

regarding Considtration of The Evidence.

In accordanct with 1he requircmcnts of Rule 52(a), and having htard and considered al1

of thc testimony, evidencc. and arguments presented at trial, the Court makes the fcllowing

findings of fatt (1'l7F'') and conclusions of law. The Court will address the claims as previously

ûutlined.

BACKGROUND FACTS

Plaintiff lntemational Yachting Charters, lnc. (i:IYC'') is a Cayman Islands corporation

with its principal place of business in I'lorida. Plaintiff Pettr Halmos (û%11almûs'') is the President

of 1YC and its sole shartholdcr. Plaintiff IYC owncd the S/Y Legacy (%'f vgocy''), a 158-fo0t

ltalian-built sailing vessel, and Lîland Runner, one of Legccy's tenders.

2. Plaintiff High Plains Capital (tti1PC%') is a Wyoming comoration, with its principal

place of business in Florida. Peter Halmos is th: Prcsidtnt of HPC and its sole shareholder,

Plaintiff HPC is thc oNvner of M/Y Mongooae (sMongoose'bj, a motoriztd sport fishing vessel.

Dcfcndant Insurance Company of North Amcrica ($çINA''), a Pennsylvania

3
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corporation, issued insuranct policies on the forcgoing vesscls.

4. 1NA issued an insurance polity bearing Policy # YW R Y06973504 to 1YC tû insurc

Legacy. The policy contained a Dinghy--fender Endorstment extcnding coveragt for lsland

'Nzmcl-. The fotal insurtd value of lsland Runner as indicated on the policy was $88,690.

INA also issued an insurancc policy bearing Policy # Y0503 1205 to HPC to insure

Mongoose. The policy coverage period extended from December 7, 2004 through December 7,

2005.

Thc policies were issued and delivertd to rcpresentatives of lYC and HPC, The

claims described below occurrcd during thc applicablt 1NA policies' coverage periods.

At the time of trial, lNA had made $24,873,620.00 in payments on the hland 'zfazlEv',

Mongoose, and L cgtxy claims. Although not a11 of tbose payments were for property damage.

those paymtnts did rtsolve. in full, plaintiffs' property dnmage claims, except for the SoI allision

claim. The only claims (other th= thc Sol allision claim) that remained for consideration by this

Court involve claims for salvage and protection against loss,

8. To 5nd for plgintiffs on their claims in this case would require this Court to rely

substamially, if not entirely, on the testimony of M r. Halmos, which this Court simply cnnnot

do-' His inconsistencies, if not outright contradictory actions and words, combined with more

credible and btlievablc testimony of other witnesses and documentary evidente in this case,

make that an impossibility.z

1 For exnmple, in considtring 11! 38 and 39' in-h'a, tht only evidtnct ofthe damages or
worth of thc lsland Runner are the words of Mr, Halmos.

2 Not atypical of the situation is M r. Halmos' testimony that he remaincd on Legacy aftcr

thc NOAA Agreemcm becaust ''I wanttd to'' tTrial Tr. vol. 6. 89 May 10, 20l 1), but in the very
next breath ht testified ç$I told her I wanted to go home'' (id. at 90). Furthcrmore. he stated 'ithere
would be recriminations'' (idj which wtrt in an t-mail that thc Court would set Lid at 1û7), but
no such c-mail has becn idcntified, Plaintiffs' proposed finding of fact on this matter (!150) does
not citc any such e-mail fèr support. Unlike tht production issue addressed in the preamble, this
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9. This casc was tried to the Court in a bench trial, as plaintiffs asscrted unspecifted

claims invoking this Court's admiralty jurisdiction.

THE SOL CLAIM

Plaintiff 1YC msserts a brtach of contract claim against lNA for fàiling to pay fbr

damages allegedly incurted by f egacy as a result of a 2001 allision with the vesscl Sol.

factual and ltgftl disputc: underlying this claim concem whethcr IYC provided sufscient proof of

its damages; whether it properly filed an insurance claim; and whether the claim and tht lawsuit

wert timely asscrted and tlled.

On September l 5, 200 1, a storm caused the anchor of $ol to dl-ag, and Sol allidcd

with L egacy as a result.

M ore than seven months later, on April 30, 2002, IYC. through its insurance broker

Bill Meyers, providexd notice of thc incident to Vanct Barker of Strickland M arinc lnsurance, lnc.

ts%strickland''l, Bill Meyers and Strickland were the ttsagents' (Halmos) hatd) Sfor gthe) pumose'

of dcaling with ACFJINA.'' Trial. Tr. vol. 9, 1 12:2- 17 May 17, 200 1. Halmos ttstified that

Strickland wms Siour agvnt whotmj we relicd on 100 percent'* (id. at t 14: 1 1 -22), and that

Stslrickland was hired, engagcd by lYC as an agent to rcprescnt 1YC in the procuremcnt of

insurance.'' at 1 1 1 :2 1 -25-1 12:1 ; see also FAC, ! 12 (referring to Strickland as IYC'S

'*age11t''). Bill Mkyers was Halmos' gtneral insurance broktr, and Strickland was a 'çspecialist''

he uscd to handle marine matters. Nowhere docs the policy applicable to the Sol allision (issued

lo IYC in 2001) state that Strickland is the authorized agent fbr INA, lt furthcr should bc nottd

that this Court finds, without resolving the agency question in the Iegal sense, that plaintiffs were

of the bclief (and manifested same on numcrous occasions) that they wcre communicating at that

is an cxample of a document promised, but never produced,
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time with their own agtnt (Strickland) and not an agtnt of the dcfendant. Anothcr example of

this belief, although later in time, is represcnttd by Exhibit J-10.

In the April 30, 2002 communication, Bill Meyers did not make any claim against

INA rclated to the incident,

Bill Mcyers also contacted Strickland to discuss a limitation of liability action filed

by the owncr of Sol. Again, Bill Mtyers did not make a claim against INA for any propcny

damage to Legacy.

lt is undisputed that, as of thc end of 2002, IYC had not submitted a claim to INA

because lYC was tsattemptling) to have the Sol's osvner's insurancc comptmy pay tbr the rcpairs,

rather than (having them paid) under (lYC's1 policy,'' Trial Tr. vol. 5. 82: 12-21 May 9, 201 1.

On M arch 3 1, 2003: IYC sent anotlwr notict to Strickland- In that notice, Halmos

acknowlcdged that he had not yet made a claims but stated that he was Sigoing to make one now.''

Ex. 1 2, p. 1 (admitted for nolice purposes only).

17. Over tht next month, Bill Mcyers communicated twice more with Vance Barker of

Strickland. The communications indicatc that no claim against INA was bcing made or pursued.

In one communication, Bill Mcyers askcd what was going on Skre the claim'' (Ex. l 5)& and Vance

Barkcr responded that <tlwle arc a11 trying to avoid a claim being posted against this policy'' (Es.

14). lndeed, Barker tcstifitd that he Skhad gotten speciGc instructions not to rcport a claim.'' D.E.

1224 (Ex, 8), p. 70:10-12.

Despite providing noticc of the incident to Strickland, IYC never made a claim undcr

the INA insurance policy. Inssead, IYC told Strickland not to make a claim.

19. Further, Bill Mcyers ncver scnt a sworn statcmcnt of the loss to Strickland or to INA,

as requircd by the tcrns of the applicable insurance policy.

6
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20. In stlbsequent communications with INA on other matters, Halmos was askcd to

providc thc claim numbcr for the u%01 claim, but failed to do so.

ln two svparatc sets of interrogatorics propotmdcd in 2004 in different litigation

involving the partics to the So1 allision, both 1YC and Halmos stated that thty had not filel

insuranct claims involving the S01 allision.

two separate depositions conducted in differtnt litigation involving the Sol

allision, Halmos swore under oath that he madc no claim qpon the INA policy.

23. INA has no records of any claim having been made bascd on the .SoI incident. ln

fact, 1NA searched its records in an effbrt to obtain a completc inventory of all claims made by

1YC and HPC in any policy year - no claim arising ont of the So1 incident was located.

24. 1YC*s failurc to make a claim prtjudiced INA'S abilily to adjust thc claim that IYC

now asscrts.

25. lYC failed to providc lNA Nvith any information regarding damages sustained by

Legacy or damage estimates for thc repair of Legacy umil June 20 1 0, almost nine years after the

allision. Thc first timc lYC prcsented INA with any back-up for the amounts claimed for the .b'0l

incidcnt was in January 201 1 .

The only rcpair cstimate IYC ever offered showed that the cost of repairs was below

the $70,000 propedy damage deductible lbund in thc applicable insurance policy. IYC did not

offer any admissiblc cvidcncc that this estimatt was reasonablc and nccessary to repair Sol. IYC

did not oftbr any other evidence of damages at trial,'

5 IYC offertd a ltttet from attorney Bob Arnold to Sol's insurance carrier, but the letter
was admittcd only for puposes of notice. Amold was not listed or qualified as an expert at trial
and no testimony was reteived from Amold. Viewed in a light most favorable to plaintiffs, this
hearsay lettcr was written by a W est Palm Beach attorney, who was not called to testify, to a

different insurance claims office (not INA) purporting to have ascertained damages (as a result of
thc SoI collision) by reviewing work done on Leqncy prior to the collision, and putting together
numbcrs from yet othcr unknown sources. While lt does, indirectly, refer to the damages set forth
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27. IYC also offered no evidcnce of any reasonable and neccssary costs related to

protection against loss or salvage with respect to the Sol allision.

I1. THE ISIMND RUNNER CLAIM

28. Plaintiff IYC also asserts a brcach of contract claim against INA for failing to pay for

the costs of salvaging lsland Runner after it wms lost at sea. The fàctual and legal disputes

involved in the claim are whether the claimed costs constitute salvage, whether IYC proved its

claimcd damages, and whdher IYC voided tht policy by failing to cooperate with IN A, or

committed fraud during the claims process.

29. Plaintiff IYC originally asserted a prûperty damagc claim, but INA paid il,s policy

Iimit. and 1YC presented no evidence at trial that it was entitlcd to any additional damages on its

proptrty damage claim or that INA breachtd the contract in paying the property damage claim.

To the extent that IYC contcnds that tht property damage claim was not paid in timely fashion,

the Court rejccts samc. Sec inh.a !! 37-42.

Prior to Being tmst at Sea, Island Runner W as Unseawortby

30. On or about July 28, 2003, Island 'lznrler was lost at sta while in thc tow oçLegacy.

Belbre it was lost, Island Runner was suffering from signitlcant mcchanical issues,

Its engine was Ssobviously aged'' and tçslightly cûrroded'' (THZ Tr. vol. 17, 93:1 5-17 June 2.

20l 1 ), and the cngine had seized in the days bcfore Island Runner was lost.4 Thc boat's

in Exhibit J-8, thcre is no evidence that said document is attached to the lettcr.

4 Although Halmos testified that the enginc was t'ixed in thc fivc days before the boat was

lost, thc Court does not find that testimony credible, in light of the fact that the replacement parts
for the crankshaft had to come from Japan, vessd logs do not demonstrate that the repairs were
made prior to the tender being lost, and 1YC has presented no documents, receipts, or other proof

that thc repairs were made.

8
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hydraulic stcering and futl flltration systems had both been discönnected immediately prior to tlw

boat's loss. The boat was algo experiencing oi1 ltaks arld corrosion.

Dut to these stvtrt mechanical issues. Islnnd Al/aner was unseaworthy as of July

2003.

Bx IYC Did Not Salvage Island Runner

33. Aftcr Island Runner was lost, lYC madc an unsuccesslkl search for lhe vessel. The

effort lasted lcos than 0nc day.

34. On or about August 3, 2903, lslond Runner was salvaged by Harold W alkin, and was

placed in a custcms offlcc 1ot in South Caicos.

35. ln Janunry 2004, 1YC took Legacy on a fouztccn day cruisc to South Caicos to inspect

lsland 'l/aner.

36. Neither the cogts incurred by 1YC in the initial search nor those incurrcd during thc

South Caicos cruise qualify a-s d'salvage charges'' tmder INA'S policy because IYC did not

salvage Island 'l/nncr. Additionally, Island 'lfaaer had alrcady been salvagcd and was in no

maritime peril when lYC took L egacy on the two wtek cruise to inspect it. 1YC presented no

evidtnct at trial of any other alleged salvagt charges or protection against loss costs.

1YC W ifhheld M aterial Evidente Related to the Island Runner Property

Damage Claim

37. On Febnmry 24, 2004, IYC submitted a notice of loss to Strickland and madc a claim

for salvage and property dnmage.' On M arch 2, 2004, INA received the nntice of the loss.

5 I-lalmos testified that he instructed Bill Meycrs to providc notice of thc Islnnd Runner
claim bcfore January 2004 when Legacy went fo South Caicos to inspect the vesstl. That

lcstimony is not crcdible, bccause M eyers rdired in 2003, prior to the loss of Island Runner.
Halmos also testified that ht did not make the claim earlitr because lsland Runner had not been
found, and that had thc vessel not bccn found. no olaim would have been made. The Court also

does not tlnd this testimony credible.

9
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ln attempting to resolve the property damage claim, 1NA requested information

rcgarding lsland Runner's location. as wcll as evidcnce of its value. IYC did not respond at all to

the fitst tltret of thesc rcqucsts. lYC rçprescnted in rcsponsc that lsland Runner was 'tone swcct

boat'' was in great/pristinc condition. and had a value exceeding $2û0,000.00. Ex. 65. In fact,

1YC rcprtsenttd it would obtain rcplacement cost information buk as it tums out. never did, No

credible evidence wms ever offcred to support these claims. much lcss any evidcnce that

corroborating support wms evcr sent to INA, W hile Halmos later claimcd that there was no

supporting doctlmentation of the boat's valut, hc clearly knew who built it and could have

obtained a declaration from that source. There is no evidence he cver attempted to do sQ.

39. IYC did not disclosey and intentionally withhtld, Island 'Nancr's severe mechanical

and other problems during the claim submission process.6 IYC'S claim that 'tI maintain my

cquipment in as closc to pcrfect condition as possiblt'' (Ex. 65) is rejccted in light of more

crcdiblc cvidence to thc contrary.

40. In addition to affirmatively misreprescnting the condition of lsland 'l/z?ncr, lYC

failed to provide other information INA netded to adjust the claim. For cxamplc, IYC never

provided the replaccment cost cstimatcs. Finally, lNA sent Sttwart Hutcheson (sil-lutchesonft), an

expert marine surveyor. to survey the vessel to try to get a handle on the dnmages claim.

4 l . The withheld information was material to the claims adjusting process, INA relied

upon l'YC's misrepresentations as to the condition of Isltmd Rl/az'er when it issued payment on

the property damage claim. Ultimattly, 1NA paid IYC $88,690.00, without ever recciving any

supporting documentation of the vessel's value. Although it was not requircd to makc this

6 Although an entry in the vessel's daily 1og indicated that lYC ':contacted the insurance''

about a 'sknocking engine'' around the time Island Runner was lost (Ex. A-20, p. 3), no evidence
w'as presented at trial that Sithe insurancc'' was INA, and thc call did not disclose to èithc

insurance'' that it was relattd to lsland Runntr.

1 0
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payment under the terms of thc policy, this action on the part of INA does not expand or altcr

cosztrage, as discussed further infra.

42. IYC'S failure to provide requested information and its withholding of other material

information. whilc misreprestnting the condition and valuc of the vessvl, prejudiccd INA'S

ability to accurately adjust the claim fbr property damage. INA paid the claim in fuil, even

though it would not have done so had INA known the trath about Island Runner's condition and

value.

Dv IYC Also Withheld lnformation Necessary To Adjust the Claim ffpr Salvage
Costs, But 1NA NBntthelkss Attempted To Setfle tbe Claim

43. IYC'S Island Runner claim included a request fbr salvage costs, representing

expenscs incurred on the unsuccessful search for lsland Runner during tht hours aftcr it was lost,

as wtll as on the subsequent fourteen day journey to South Caicos to lnspect the vessel.

requcsted $3.066.40 in costs for the initial search and $56.464,77 in salvage costs fbr the

fourttwen day cruise.

44. In 2005, INA rcquestcd that IYC provide information related to the salvage claim,

but Ilalmos claimvd that thc inquiries wcrc f'bad fith pcr se'' and that hc would 'kturn this over to

lawyers and tell them to do whatevcr it takts'' if thc matter was not resolved in ten days. Ex. 0-9.

Halmos did not provide the rtquested information,

45. On June 3, 2006, despite the lack of information from IYC, INA offered lYC

$5,400.00 bccause that amount of moncy had bcen offercd as a ttreward'' in othtr circumstanccs.

INA also invited IYC t() support its claim for reimburscmtnt with back-up documentation. IYC

never responded to the $5,400.00 Qffer to rcsolve thc salvage claim. W hile it is arguable that this

'çpaymcnt'' was late, it was not rcally an owed claim so the tklateness'' of samt is irrclcvant. See

supra ! 36 .

46. Over four yeJu's later, on June 9, 2010, IYC for the tlrst timc provided some
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documents regarding its claimed salvage expcnscs during discovcry in this case. No information,

supporq or explanation was provided by IYC or Halmos before that date. Additional supporting

documents wcre not sent until January 201 1 . This was over five full months aftcr thc discovtry

cut-offdate in this case. See D.E. 706 (adopting thc deadlines proposed in D.E. 698),

Despite lNA'S bclicf that the only information prcscnted demonstratcd that tht

charges sought were not covercd by thc applicable insurancc policy, lNA paid $5,400.00.

Although il was not required to make this payment under the tcrms of tlle policy, this action on

the part of INA did not expand or alter coverage, as discussed further inka.

48. IYC'S failure to provide the rcquested information prejudiccd INA'S ability to adjust

the salvage claim that IYC now asserts.

111. THE M ONGOOSE CLAIMS

49. Plaintiff I'IPC asserts a breach of contract claim against 1NA for failing to pay for

ccrtain salvagt costs incurred in connection with Mongoose as a result of I'Iurricanes Katrina and

W ilma. INA did pay $28.000 for the costs of towing and securing gvongoose after she was

grounded by Katrina. 1NA also ultimattly paid almost $400,000 in property damagt costs for

tvongoose. See inh'a !( 71 . HPC contends, however, that W A owes an additional $86.569.43 in

salvagc costs. The factual and legal disputes rtlûvant to this claim aze whether thc additional

costs claimed qualify as salvage costs, whether I-IPC showed that the costs were reasonable,

necessary, and covercd, alld whdher HPC voidcd the applicablc policy by committing fraud.

5û. Plaintiff HPC also originally asstrted a breach of contract clailn Ibr proptrty dqmage,

but as INA paid all necessary and reasonable costs related to that claim. I4PC withdrew its

proptrty dnmagc claim, and HPC prescnted no evidence at trial that il was tntitled to any

1 2
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additional damagts on that claim.?

A. Mongoose's Initial Grnunding in Hurritane Katrina

5 1 . On August 25, 2005, Hongoose, a sport fishing vessel
, was grounded in tlw Grtat

White Heron National M arine Sanctuary during Hurricane Katrina.

52. HPC made a claim on the applicable insurance policy. Tbe claim was promptly

acknowledgcd by INA.

53, On Scptember 15, 2005. Mongoose was rcmoved from tlw sanctuary and towed to

Peninsula Mariney a repair yard in Key W est. IIPC and Halmos picked Peninsula M arine as the

S%best reasonable choicc to protect against further damage.'' Ex. R-10) Ex, P-l 0, p. 1; Ex. Q-10,

p. 19 Ex- V-10; Ex. X- l0. INA playtd no role in that decision
,
' but it paid $28,000 for the costs

of extracting the vessel and towing it to the shipyard.

54, From thc time Mongoose was delivcred to Peninstlla Marine tmtil Hurricane W ilma,

the vessel was on blocks or in a sling, wa.s secure, and was not in maritime peril.

55. 'l-he Peninsula M arine cstimate prcparcd as part of the Part A: Property Damage

Coverage claim aliocated sixty days for storage and repair of Mongoose at a cost of $24,620. 1 1 .

56, INA dispatched Hutchtson to sun'ty Mongoose while it was at Peninsula Marinc.

Hutcheson's survey, conducted on September 16, 2005, concluded that Peninsula Marine's

estimate 0r$24.620. 1 1 for hurricane rcpairs was fair and rcxsonable. I-IPC rejected thc rstimatc.

At no time prior to I-lurricane W ilma did HPC submit its own estimate regarding

damages causcd by Hurricanc Katrina' INA tendcred paymtnt to I-IPC foz thc damages related to

Ilurricane Katrina that wcre reported by I-lutchcson. IIPC rejtcted that paymtnt,

7 To the extent plaintiff I'IPC claims that tht payment was not timely
, that claim is

rejccted in light of the findings of fact lwrein.

3 Although Halmos testified that '4M r. Hutcheson ordered that tht vesstl be taken to a yard
in Kcy Wcst, that I objected to for numerous remsons'' (Trial Tr. vol. 8, l 05:22-1 06:1 May 1 6.
20l l), tlw Court discounts that ttstimony in light of the conflicting documentary evidgnce.
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B. Subsequcnt Damage te M ongtmse from Hurricane W ilma

58. On October 24, 2005, whil: Mongoose was still on drpland and up on blocks at

Ptninsula Marint, Hunicane W ilma strutk Kty W ost.

59. In mid-December 2005, HPC made a claim on the applicable insurance policy tbr

damagc to Mongoose allegcdly caused by Hurricane W ilma. The claim was promptly

acknowledged by INA, and Hutcheson immediately conducted another survcy. HPC cnnsulted

with Multihull Technologics rcgarding 1he cost to repair the hurricane damage to Mtmgoose.

60. On February 15, 2006, Multihull providcd HPC with a damagc estimate of

$84,935.75 related to damages incurred in both Hunicane Katrina and Hurricane W ilma; this

tigure consists of $29,295 for repairs for Katrina-related dnmage, $26,265 for repairs for W ilma-

rclattd damage, plus expenses for hauling, blocking, and launcbing. Halmos wœs also notiiied of

a scparate rcpair estimate for damages that existed prior to thv two hurricanes. HPC rejected that

cstimate as wcll.

61 . Based on his own survey, Hutchcson concluded that the M ulyihull Technologics

estimate was reasonable, and lNA accordingly madt sevcral offkrs to resolve the Hurricane

Katrina and Hurricane W ilma damagc claims based on that estimate. The Court agrees that

Hutcheson's and INA'S reliancc on the Multihull Technologics tstimate was reasonable.

62, ln response to INA'S offcrs to rtsolve the tlaims, Halmos stated: i>lf you issut and

send thc check over my objecttons, by copy of this e-mail to Gail Meyers 1 am instructing her to

not deposit the check and retum it to you (INA).'' Ex. G-l 1, p. 1 .

63. ln February 2006, INA sent HPC a check in thc nmount of $23,463.38 to cover repair

cûsts incurred in connection with Hurricanc Katrina damage. HPC returned the check.

64. Rather thtm have Mongoose repaired at Pcninsula M arine or Multihull, HPC decided

to takc thc vessel to Meniu Boat and Enginc Works, Inc. CMerritt''), the builder of the vessel-

14
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and Mongoose travcled to M erritt tmder its own powtr.

65. HPC received a survey datcd August 17, 2006, from SuperYacht Technologies

dcmonstrating that most of the damage to Mongoose was unrelated to thc hurricancs.

Specifically, this survcy found a lack of gcneral maintenance, observing: ''Due to no apparcnt

maintenance bcing carried out at aIl on the boat over thc ycars cithtr cosmetically or technically

the overall condition of the vessel has deteriorated to that of very poor, I believe tbat its market

value now would be around $250,000 USD as $a ixer-upper-''' Ex. B- l2, p. 3. The report

continucd that d'gtlht vessel has been neglccted ovcr a long period of timc and the evidcnce on

board shows this in every way.'' ld . The report concludes that 'trolverall . . . thcre is no

evidence of any hurricane or wind damagev'' Id HPC and Halmos failcd to disclose this survcy

or its underlying facts to INA. This amplified and reinforced the prior pre-hurricane damage

report referenced in paragraph 60.

Throughout 2006 and into early 2007, after HPC rejected thc estimates from

Peninsula Marine and Multihull Technologies, 1NA repeatedly rcquested a tvongoose repair

estimate tiom HPC so that the claim could be adjusted, HPC did not respond until April 2007.

67. On or about April 9, 2007 HPC had a new damage estimate performed by Menitt.

Thc Merritt estimate was $467,251.00- m0re than fivc timcs thc Multihull estimate. The Merritt

estimate was provided fburtecn months after the Multihull estimate was issued and twelvv

months aher Peninsula M arine representcd that it could have complctcd thc Katrina repairs.

68, Even aher receipt of the April 9, 2907 Mcrritt estimate, HPC still refused to repair

Mongoose. Mcrritt had a bay open to repair the vessel arottnd May 2007, but HPC would not

permit the repairs to occur. ln an effort to work with HPC and Halmcs to have tht vessel quickly

repaired, INA tvcn oflkrcd to advance cedain repair costs so the work could commence, but

HPC rejvcted that oftkr as well.

15
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Instead of having tvongoost repaired. I-IPC allowcd the vesscl to sit moored and

tmattcnded, unmaintained, and tmrcpaircd fbr a substantial length of timc. 'rhe vesscl continucd

to dtttrioratc in the absence of repairs,g I-lalmos cven told his own son to ç'kecp (hisl nose out of

the Mongoose siluation'' and its deteriorating condition (Ex. I 1- 1), and he acknowledged to lNA

that the failure to repair thc Mongoose was ttnot an ACE issuc but rather a Halmos issuc'' lEx. C-

20, p.1).

70. Notwithstanding HPC'S fàilure to cooperate in the repair of the vessel, it requested

payment for the full amount of the Merritt invoice. I'IPC representcd to INA that this estimatt

comprised the costs necessary to repair items damaged by Hul-ricane Katrina and Hurricane

Wilma. INA rclicd upon this reprcsentation in continuing to adjust the claim.

C- HPC W itbheld lnformation Material to tht Claim for Mongoose Repair

Costs

71 . On Februao' 27, 200s, JNA offtred to pay HPC $572,7 l 2.0 l in exchange for a full

policy release of claims involving hurricane damage to Hongoose. I'IPC agreed to the amount,

but ultimatcly (aftcr several follow-up inquirics from INA) rtfuscd to agree to the tenns of the

reltase.

72. W hun HPC would not agre: to the settlement, INA ultimately paid HPC 3393,034.34

under the Part A: Property Damage Coverage provision.

INA made that payment in reliance on Halmos' representation that the Merritt

estimate reflected Merritt's assessment of the amount of damage attributablc to the hurricanes.

IN A later learned that Halmos knowingly misrepresented tht nature ofMenitt's estimate.

74. ln fact, Halmos kncw that the Mtrritt estimatt included not only cnsts for repairing

9 Halmos tcstified that he wrotc Roy Menitt disputing Mcrritl's statements that Mongoose

was being left unattcndcd and permitted to dcteriorate. Halmos offered to prescnt those
communications to the Court, but never did. *114e Court finds Roy Merritt's lctters to be credible.

1 6
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hurricane danmge, but also costs for making general renovations to Mongoose. Thc portion of

tht Menitt cstimatc 'rclated specifically to hurricane damage was only $58
,000, an amount

consistcnt with l'NA'S own previous surveys and estimates.

75- HPC also failed to disclose to INA communications from Monnoose's buildtr, Roy

Merritt, who confinncd that most of the damage sustained by M ongoose was unrelated to either

hurricane.lo spccifically, on May 30, 2006, Merritt wrote Halmos that the 'imajority of the

repairs needed by the M ongoose are the result of general wear and neglect and not directly

related to hurricanc damage.'' Ex. Q-6, HPC krïew that the Mtrritt estimatt rellected the fact

that the majority of nccded repairs wert occasioncd by general wear and tear but failed to

disclose that fact to INA. lnstead. I'IPC ccntinued to represcnt that Mongoose was always

properly maintained and in excellent/pristine conditicn before the hurricanes.

76, 'l-he information Halmos failed to disclose to INA would have been material to thc

claims adjusting prccess, lNA relied upcm these material misrepresentatiens and would havc

adjasted and paid the claim differerttly had the true information been timcly disclosed,

D. HPC Also W lthheld Information M aterial to the Claim for Mongoose

Salvage Cost:

77. In addition to the forvgoing rcpait costs claim, HPC submittcd a claim of $55,093.57

for salvage costs on November 8, 2007, more than two years after Mongoose wiks secured at

Peninsula Marine. This was thc first submission of salvage costs by HPC.

78. HPC'S claim for Mongoose salvage costs simply contained a list of datcs and

amounts, with the generic title kktvongoose Salvage Cbargts,'' Ex. V-1 1, pp. 2-3. No dctail or

10 Although Halmos testified that this commtmication was sent to INA during thc claims

adjustment process. the Court finds more crcdiblc Pamela Harting-Forkey's testimony on this
m atttr.
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suppoding documentation was prescnted, even though Halmos understood that he had an

obligation to providt additional supporting documents.

79. ln response to thc Novembtr 8, 2007 submission. Pamela Harting-Forkey responded

with a Iist of the typcs of supporting documents INA nceded. This list included the invoices/bills

and a description o$' how thc itcm was used. I-IPC did not prnvidt thc requesttd documentation

or descriptions.l 1

80. In January 20l 1 , fivt months after the closc of discovtry, FIPC firsl produccd

documcnts alltgtdly supporting its claims ror incurred salvage costs in Exhibit 286-A (admitted

for demonstrativt purposes only). n at exhibit claimed roughly $86,000 in costs - approxilnatcly

$30,000 more than HPC originally claimtd, IIPC also submitted Exhibit 286-C, a box of

rectipts pumortedly corresponding to tht claimcd expenses in Exhibit 286-A.

81 . The costs listed in Exhibit 286-A include, among othcr things, a claim for tht annual

rcntwal of tht boat registration, and costs incurred long afet. Mongoose had been securcd at

Peninsula Marine and was not in peril, See Ex. 286-C. HPC did not demonstzate at trial what

these non-descriptive bills were for, much less how each of the txpenses claimed on Exhibh 286-

A or each reteipt found within Exhibit 286-C was a rcasonable and necessmy expense either for

salvagt or protection against lossj and whether these expenses were covtred under the INA

Policy.

'' Halmos testititd that he tsbdievtd'' ht respondtd to this email frrial Tr. vol. 1 1, 77:6-
1 1 May 23, 201 1). but ht declined to show the Court that response whcn provided the
opportunity to do so.

1 8
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IV. TIIE LEGACY CLAIM

82, Plaintiff lYC asserts a breach of contract claim against INA for failing to pay costs

incurred to salvagt and rcpair Legacy aftcr l-lurricane W ilma. The factual and legal disputes

relvvant to this claim are whcther thc claimed costs constitute salvagt and protection against loss

costs (and whdhvr thcrc was a fkilure to mitigate); whether IYC proved its damages; whtther the

charges submitted by IYC arc covered undcr the policy; whether IYC voidcd the applicable

policy by tkiling to cooperate, by brcaching eitber its contract with lNA or the implivd warranty

of seaworthiness, or committing fraud; and whether, by partially paying sclected attorney fees,

INA waivcd a defcnse that such a claim did not fall within the scopc of coverag. e.

33. lYC had also asserted a property damagc claim, but INA paid the S16 million policy

limit on the Legacy so that claim is no longer before the Court.

A, Prior to the Events at Issue, Legqty W as Unseaworthy

84. On October 24, 2005, l-lurricane W ilma struck south FIorida, dttmaging Legaty

Prior to the storm, Legacy was experiencing sevtral mechanical and other probltms. On March

16, 2005, Halmos dctailed, in m iting, extcnsive conditions that rendertd Legacy not Ht'it for

user'' as he put it. Ex. B-20, p. 9. Halmcs reporttd that Legacy had impropcr gauges for

measuring halon in the vessel's fire-fsghting system, and that as a result tlw systtm <swas short 60

lbs. (of halonj in cach tank,'' which lkrvndtrfedl thc systmn insutlicient for the intcnded tirc-

tlghting puzpose,'' Id. at 7-8. A 'kmajor englne room 5re,'' he reported, 'lwould havc jeopardized

a1l aboard and likewise Legacy.'' 1d. at 7.12 Halmos also obscn'ed that Legacy's Sssailing syslem''

was not operational and t'hald) not been operational since 2001.'' 1(i at #. Thcre was also a

'tbilge/sewage stench'' that ''rendered (thc master) cabin impossible to use and, intermittently. the

t7 lt should bc noted that Policy # YW R Y06973504 insuring L egwc
.p has a spccific Fire

Extinguishing System Avccment that requires the insured to have tça built in and automatic
system of fire exlinguishing apparatus . . . maintained in good and efficient working order,'' Ex.
l , p, 7.
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other stateroomss dining room bar and salon areas
.'' 1d. at 1 , Hallnos continued: t'n e stench is

intojtrable and has caused nausea
, hcadachcs, eye initation, vision impairment, and

rcspiratory/allcrgy problems, among othcrs.'' 1d. Thc fresh-air system was 'tused only intn the

crew area and (was) 100% blocked fbr the crew area aû.'' 1d at 6. llalmos also reported that

valves in the bilge system leaked and lacked neccssary alarms and pumps to avoid flooding
.

Failure of one of thc valves tlooded thc forward-port stateroom . 1à at 9. Caulking bctween the

teak deck planks was insuffcient, causing rotten wood and conoded stetl
, 1d. at 7.13

B5. Tbe foregoing conditions rendered Legacy unseaworthy when the policy was

rentwed on August 7, 2005.14

86. The unseaworthy conditions wcrt mattrial to m A. Had the condition of Legacy

bten discloscd to INA prior to the policy's rcncwal. INA would not have renewed the policy or

would have placcd thc vessel on port tisk until it was rcpairedxts Had IYC rcfused to repair thesc

conditions. the policy would not havt bven renewed.

B. The Grtmnding and Salvage of Legacy

87 I'Iurricane W ilma struck on Octobcr 24, 2005, causing Legacy to becomc grounded in

13 'I*hcrc is no crcdible evidcnce that this document or the contents thereofwere disclosed

to INA prior to the policy's renewal.

14 'I-his Court ruled that plaintiffs could not attempt to rebut the M arch 1 6, 2005 letttr

with cvidcncc of Legacfs côndition as ûf August 2005. Trial Tr. vol. 8, 141-150 May 16, 20 1 1 .N
otwithstanding this rullng, plaintiffs werc permitted to offer sevcral pieces of cvidence that they
conttnded rebuttvd tht letter and, by exttnsion, a potcntial ûnding the vessel was unseaworthy.
For examplc, the Court admitttd into evidence that Logacy was ABS certified in August 2005.
This ABS certification, howtver, does not dcfinitively cstablish that îhe vessel was seaworthy.

Ste. e.g. . Sabine kbwïrlg Co. v. Brennan. 72 F.2d 490, 494 (5th Cir. 1934), made binding by,
Bonner v. City of Prichar4 661 F.2d 1 206, 1207 (1 1th Cir. 198 1); Kuithe v. Gulf CJr/#e
Maritime, /nc., C.A.. 08-0458-WS-C; 2010 WL 3419998, at *3 (S.D. Ala. Aug. 26, 2010). Most
importantly, there is uncontroverted testimony that, even with knowledge of said certification,
thc underwriting opinion on the Legacy would still have resulted in a non-renewal of the policy.

15 s'Port risk'' is a term used to describe the situation in which a vessel is sent to a safe
,

INA-approved location to allow it to be repaired or stored pertding repair,

20
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an environmentally sensitive nature p'rescrvc (the t'Sanctuary''l.

s8. lYC made a claim on the applicable insurance policy. T14e claim was promptly

acknowledgtd by INA.

89. Because Legacy was groundcd in a ftderally protected nature preserve
, it was

necessary tbr 1YC to work with the National Occanic and Atmosphcric Administration

('$NOAA'') to dctermine how the boat could be moved without damaging the Sanctuary.

90. From August 2006 through January 2007, IYC and Halmos, through their chosen

counscl, Thomas Campbell with Pillsbury W inthrop Shaw Pittman
, L.L.P. ($%Pillsbury''),

negotiatcd with NOAA.

On January 5, 2007, IYC and Halmos finalized settlements with NOAA, cntcring

into two separatt agrctments. 1YC and Halmos insisted on tbese agreements, even though no

evidence was presemed that NOAA or the State of Florida had tvtr plzrsued, or was inlending to

pursue, a remediation claim against Halmos or IYC.

92. The first agrcemcnt settled the claims bctwccn NOAA and IYC; the second settled

thc claims betwten NOAA and Halmos. IYC and l-lalmos were separately released from al1

liability, including fincs, penalties, and natural resource damagc caused by tht grounding of

Legacy. Specifically, the NOAA agrecmcnts rcleascd lYC and Halmos from any remediation

obligations for which INA had not alrtady paid.

93. Plaintiffs contend that NOAA requirtd rcmediation of the Sanctuary.i6 However,

plaintiffs have produced no evidence of any communication from NOAA rcquiring any

remediation. Despite the lack of any such requirement from NOAA, Robert Nailony IYC'S

'6 Although Halmos testised that a 38.000 square foot hole had to be remediatvd, this
testimony is contradicted by the ttstimony of plaintiffs' own remediation expert, Robert Nailon.
In any cvent 1YC offbred no evidence regarding the cost to remediate that area.
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remediation cxpert, testitscd at his May 1 1, 2010 deposition that remediation would cost $ l 6,000.

INA issued a chcck to IYC in that amount in puly 2010.

94. Svhile the negotiations with NOAA wcrt ongoing and after the agreements were

extcuttd, scvcral unsuccessful attcmpts wcre made to salvagt Legacy. lt ultimately took cight to

ninc months to extract Legacy from the Sanctuary.

95, During these efforts, 1NA neither dictated which salvor should be used nor hired any

salvor of its own. INA paid for a11 salvage cfforts that were reasonablc, nccessary, properly

documented, and covered under thc applicable INA policy.

96, Ultimately, on February 24, 2002, Legacy was freed from the Sanctuary.

97. Once L egacy was freed, it was towed to a secure anchoragc off of Key W est. Aher

being cxtracted and towed from thc Sanctuary on Fcbruary 24, 2008, Legacy was safe, securely

anchored. and out of peril in Key W est Harbor.

98. l'lalmos himself rcptatedly asserted, in contemporaneous writings, that Legacy was

secured immediately after being removtd fi'om tbe Sanctuary. On M arch 7, 2008, Halmos wrote

that 'iegacy is in a sccure anchorage . . .*' and the içlolnly risk is other boats moored nearby get

loose and collide with Lcgacy in a stormx'' Ex. Z-12, p. 1 , A week and a half latcr, he rciterated

that ltegacy is in a securc location, the primary risk being smaller craft nearby brcaking loose in

a stonn and colliding with Legacy. There is no comparably safe anchorage 1 know of along thc

castern Florida coast.'' E x. A-13, p. 1. On April 3, 2008, l-lalmos wrote that ttltjhe Byrd clan has

safely, without any known additional damage, salvaged Legacy and moored hcr in tht anchorage

just north of the Historic Seaport'' Ex, M-13. p. 1, The next day, l-lalmos again w'rote that

'icgacy is safely at anchor.'' Ex, P-17, p. 2- On May 3, 200B, Halmos Avrote that ltegacy is as

safe and secure as anyonc can reasonably make her, and this is thc bcst place tbr her . . . .'' Ex,

243, p, 2.

22
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Accordingly, salvage endcd on February 24, 2008 whcn Legacy was frecd from thc

Sanctuary, was safely anchored, and was no longcr in peril.l?

C. IYC Failed to M ifigate Damages to Zevlcy Following Salvage

1 00. Given the damagt Legacy sustained during Hurricane W ilma, it should have been

towed to a repair yard as quickly as possible to prevent further dctcrioration. W hen it was

extracted, there were multiple rcpair yards where Legacy could have been taken.

10 l . Upon its extraction from the Sanctuary, it would havc taken two to three days to

preparc Legacy for towing and only a day or two to complete the tow. There was no condition on

the vessel that prevented it from being towed at that time. On June 1 7, 2008, l'Ialmos wrote that

thc %tkeel is sccurely up'' and that major systems were functional. Ex. B-1 3, p. 1 .

102. lcdeed, at that time. I'lalmos told INA his intentitm was to havc Legacy towcd to

port for repairs. INA did not dictate any towing company or repair yard tbr IYC to use for

Legacy repairs.

103. Halmos, howevcr, did not havt Legacy towed to a repair yard for reasons that are

unrelated to the salvage issuc. 0ne rcason he chose not to move f egacy was that he believed that

the NOAA rclcasc was effective only as long as Legacy rcmaintd around Key W est. Throughout

this process M r. i'Ialmos wanted to be the only One making decisions with regard to f egaey. For

cxamplc, on April 6, 2008, Halmos dcclartd: '*Again with all due respect, only one pcrson

decide: what preparations for towing are of benelit. Me. It's my boat, my crew on thc boat, and

it's my wretchcd rcar-end on the boat with thcm. When, based on the bcst advice I can get, 1

conclude Legacy is towable it's then 1'11 be ready for due diligcncc on P&L towing-'' Ex. 209, p.

17 This tlnding is supponed by uncontroverted expert tcstimony from both 1NA and

plaintiffs' witnesses.

23
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104. On July 7, 2008, Halmos reported that L egacybs keel had dropped and could not be

retracted. Legacy was still secure at its anchorage, and thus was not in marine peril at that time,

1 05. Even with a 4sklropped'g kcel. the vessel could have been towed to a repair yard. On

July 9, 2008, Halmos Bqm e that L egacy could be towed to Tampa Bay Shipbuilding & Repair

i'with the kccl down.'' Ex. 212, p. 1 . ()n August 26, 2008, llalmos wrote that lYC was preparing

to tow Legacy l%regardless of (her) keel bcing up or down.'' Ex, G-1 3, p. 1 '

1 06. The kcel and otlwr equipment wert repaired by October 2008 at the latest, and the

vtssel eould have becn towed at that time. IYC ncverthelcss did not tow L eglc.p to a repair yard

until June 2010. Regardless of whether f egacy could be towed, however, the vessel was securely

tmchortd and the boat was not in peril after Febnlary 24, 2008.

D. lNA M ade Efforts To Obtain Estimate: of Legaey's Dam age

107, Stewan Hutchcson survtyed Legacy in 2005 whilc it was hard aground. Ile issued

a restrve cstimate of $5 million and a field estimate of $4.5 million. subject to receiving a repair

estimatc from tht shipyard. I-lalmos vigorously disputed these figures, and as early as January 8,

2005, IYC instructcd INA not to issuc checks bmsed upon Hutcheson's field estimates for any

matter involving llalmos.

1NA rcpeatcdly requested any estimatcs or surveys thaî IYC had rcgarding repair

costs tbr Legacy. Gail M eyers, the owner of the CPA firm that handled plaintiffs' finances,

testified she was told tivc months after the hurricane to delay sending invoices rcquested by INA.

She admitted that at least as of May 2007, one and one-half years aftcr the hunicanc, she was still

scnding requests for reimbursemcnt in monthly lump sums without supporting documentation or

explanation. Lisa Feagans of her om ce admitted that in 2009 she sent documents that had been

requested two years earlier. INA specifically rcquested any' estimates or surveys from Pcrini Navi

(4#Perini''), the vtssel's builder. 1YC and Halmos provided nothing to m A. INA finaliy

24
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reqnested estimatcs dirtctly from Perini, but was told that they could be released only with

Halmos' permission.

109. By May 2006, Halmos was expecting to receive an estimate of property damage

from Perini. On or about June 23, 2006, Perini sent Halmos an cstimatc of $4,804,047.60,13

representing that this estimatc 'tcan be considered valid for insurance pumoses.'' Ex. V- 1 2, p. 1 .

l l0' 'l-his estimate was not sent to or disclosed to INA. ln fact, Halmos dtnied rcceiving

samc. INA was unaware of its existencc until January 201 1 when Perini responded to INA'S

subpoena, ln tht intervening timc pcriod, IYC reprtstnted that Legacy's hull damages exceeded

$16 million - the liability limit for property damagc under thc applicable policy. IYC and

Halmos made this reprcsentation knowing thaf the undisclosed Perini estimate was almost 75%

lower than thc policy limit.

1 1 1 . Thc Pcrini estimatt tontained mattrial tnformation that was csscntial to the claims

adjttstment process and would have bten utilized dtlring the process had it been disclosed to

INA. l'lad INA known of this tstimate. it would hav: paid the hull claim because the Perini

estimatc was consistent W1t11 Hutcheson's estimatt and contained the ntcessary pricing

intbrmaticn from a rcpair yard. Instead, INA had to wait until 2008 to pcrform a full survey, in

conccrt with Perini - after f egacy was out or the Sanctuary. By that point, the vessel had

deterioratcd, causing a higher damage evaluation.

Based upon Halmos' representatinns that Pcrini and others determined that Legacy

was a total loss, INA (coupled with Knowles' survey reports many ycars later) paid the

$16,000,000 policy limit, fcr in cxccss of the damage valuation contained in the concealed Perini

estimate of $4.8 million.

1. On Junt 23, 2006, the conversion factor between Euro and USD currencits was:

$1.26290 USD = 1 Euro. Therefûre, the 6 3,803,981 .00 estimate was equal to $4,804.047.60.
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E. IYC Obstructed a.d Misled 1NA During tNe Claims Adju:tment Proees:

l 1 3. In June 2006, INA and IYC (through its attorney, John Kimball) agreed to a set of

è'p-. ound rules'' to govern thc claims submission process. The parties agreed that IYC would

submit periodic accountings to INA of IYC'S expcnscs, and INA would have yhc right tû audit

thc backup docttmentation.

1 14. The parties fkrther agreed that all communications affkcting the rights of the parties

would be in writing. This was done to ensure that thcre wcre no misunderstandings betwetn the

Parties.

1 15. During the claims submission process, INA madt clear that Jolm Kimball's (Healy

& Baillie, L.L,P./Blank Rome) and Bruct McAllister's (Alley Maass) attorneys' fees wcre not

covcred by the applicable policy. INA also made cltar that Halmos' time and that of his

companics was not covercd.

1 1 6. Although not obligated to do so under the applicablt insurancc policy, INA did

agt'et to pay the legal expenses IYC incurred irt thc negotiation of the NOAA agreement. INA

agteed only to those specilsc exm nses. It did not agree to pay for any Pillsbury exptnses

unrelatcd to cxcctltion of the 'NOAA agrtcmvnt, nor did it agree to pay other finus for any

expenses. 1NA was not awart of the alleged involvement of Blank Rome and llealy & Baillie,

L.L.P. in the NOAA negotiations, and lYC presented no cvidence that these finns were involved

in the NOAA agreement negotiations.

l 1 7. Pursuant to thc parties' agreement, INA repeattdly requcsttd accountings from IYC.

Pamela Harting-Forkey even volunteered to go to Florida to assist IYC in the tlaims submission

process. l'lalmos ncvcr informed his accountants of this offer of assistance. Instead, Halmos

viewtd lNA'S requests for accountings and offers to pay vtndors directly as unreasonable

attempts to çtgrind him down.'' Trial Tr. vol. 1 1, 160:1 7-161 :10 M ay 23y 201 1 .

26
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1 1 8. IYC continued to request additional time to submit accountings and suppotting

documents.

1 19. Around that timt, INA also rcpcatedly requested that IYC provide invoices from

Pillsbury. Halmos told INA that the invoicts would bc forthcoming
. Pillsbury never sent any fcc

bills to INA for payment.

lt was not until Pamela Harting-Forkty read an October 5
, 2007 article in the

Charlotte Observet. that she discovered that 1YC was sptnding in excess of $1 million per month

on the ''salvage efforts.''tv Trial Tr. vol. 16 170:25- 1 71 :2 June 1 , 2O1 1 ; Ex. B-17, p. l .)

'

On Octobcr 8, 2007, INA again wrote Halmos and requcsted an accounting. In

response. Halmos conceded that INA had repeatedly requesttd an accounting and that IYC had

not providcd it. Yet no accotmting was forthcoming (despite more promises to send invoices for

reimbursement). lnsttad, Halmos sent a list of expenses. but the list contained only thc datc, a

reference column. an amount, and an ldentical descriptîon for each entv : fùlaegacy salvage

charges and expenses to protect.'' Ex. L-17. No t'urthtr description or supponing documentation

was provided.

l 22, Latcr that month, on October 30, 2007$ INA reccived its first document

slzmmarizing payments IYC had madc to Pillsbury. On November 3, 2007, lYC first adviscd

lNA of IYC'S claim that Blank Rome and Jorden Burq two additional law finns, were involved

with the NOAA negotiations. At that point, lYC submitted its intemal check registcr rclatcd to

the apparent paymcnt of the legal invoices for thosc two firms. This check register stated that

$ l 84,345.60 had becn paid to Blank Rome and that $144,357.20 had bten paid to Jordcn Burt.

but it providtd INA with no information regarding thc work that was completed or how it rvlated

19 In contrast to IYC'S contention that Psmcla Harting-Forkey ratified or approved all of

IYC'S expenses. Halmos admitted that txpenditures were made without knowing whcther thty
were covered under the policy or whetber INA would reimburse them.

27
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to the NOAA negotiations. Because lYC provided no supporting documcntation or explanation,

INA could not adjust tht claim from the information provided.

123, Pnmela Harting-Forkey promptly respondcd and indicated that while she was

unfnmiliar with each lirm's involvement with the NOAA negotiations, she was willing to review

invoicts if they were submitted to her. Despite this request, (YC provided no legal invoices or

supporting documcntation for Blnnk Rome or Jorden Burt. IYC prtsented no evidcncc that lNA

ever agreed to reimburse any legal expenses related to the ncgotiation of the NOAA agreement

other than thosc of Plllsbury.

124. Thc only information Mcyers was pcrmitted to release to INA was a check register

of payments made to Pillsbury. Thcse chtck rtgisttrs stattd that (ostvnsibly cumulativc)

paymtnts of $1 ,1 14,141 .32 and $ 1,398,813.93 were made to Pillsbury. The chtck rtgisters

contained no information upon whiçh a reasonable insurance adjuster could cvaluate the

submission for paymcnt and/or coveragt under the applicable insnrance policy. The chtck

rcgisters were accompanied with a request for reimbursemcnt.

125. Based upcm Halmos' promise to fonvard the supporting invoices and documents

and the representation that these fees wcrc rclated to thc neg otiation of the NOAA agreement.

lNA agreed to reimburse half of the Pillsbury invoices that 1YC submitted for reimburscment.

INA issued a check for $557,070.66, which Halmos acknowledged rcceiving in November 2007.

m A's attemptg to obtain the supporting invoices and documtnbation continued

126. ln response to INA'S repeated rcqucsts for supporting documvnts, Halmns

acknowttdged, at least six months prior to filing suit, that INA was trying to 'lsettle up.'' Trial

Tr. 95: 1 7-19. 101 : 19-20 May 25, 201 1 . Indetd, immediately prior to filing suit, llalmos

requested an extension of the statutc of limitations. Pamela Harting-Forkey granted Halmos'

request to file claims under the INA polity, noting that the contract statute of limitations in

28
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Florida is tsve ycars and that pcriod had not yet cxpirtd
. She refused to gram an extcnsion of

time for asserting extra-contractual claims without IYC providing an explanation of those clai
m s

so that INA could work out such issues witll IYC
. Halmos responded by instructing his counscl

to tttimcly tsle paperss' against INA. Ex. N-21, p. 1

127. 1YC failed to providc any accountings with supporting documentation until after the

present suit was filcd in October 2008.

128. Unbcknownst to INA, Halmos told his accountant
, Gail Meyers, not to releasc the

t'inttrcompanys' invoices and legal bills and supporting documcntation. 1-1c gave the samc

instructions to I-isa Feagans

129. On Novembcr 20, 2008. Halmos Brrote INA and explained that for more than a year

1YC had been compiling documents to be submitted. Unbeknownst to INA, Halmos had

instructtd Meyers to keep track of all expenses having anything to do with the vesstls, and to

bundlt the expenscs into an omnibns INA claims submission. Howevcr, he instnlcted Meyers to

limit the information providcd to INA to just date, vendor name, and check number/wirc

idcntification,

l 30. On Dectmber 4, 2008, ahtr !he lawsuit was filed, 1YC sent a list of expenses tbr

reimburscment.'o This tist too was esscntialty a check register, containing only tht namc of the

vendor, a date, and an amount. IYC did not providc supporting documentation necessary for

INA to adjust 1hc claim.

At the same time, IYC submitted to INA a multi-million dollar reimbursement

request for work Halmos' companies Intelligence Senricts Comoration C'ISC'') and P ctcr

Halmos & Sons (:THS'') allegedly provided. IYC and I-lalmos reprcsenttd that thc ISC invoices

70 Although Halmos testified that Pamela Harting-l7orkey only requcstcd a list of what

was being spent and Kslnlot so much accounting support and explanations'' (Trial Tr. vol. 8
l 63:1 1-29 May 16, 201 1)s the Court credits Harting-Forkey's ttstimony tha! she repeatedly
rcquested back-up documentation.
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were for 'iAdministration, Staff Support and Allocated Overhead
,'' and thc PHS invoices were fbr

''Administration and Logistical Support'' relatcd to salvage and protection against loss of f egacy

due to Hurricane W ilma, Ex. Z-20; Ex. Z-19; Ex. 226. IYC had never disclosed ISC'S and

PHS'S involvemenl prior to the Dccembcr 4, 2002 reimbursemcnt rcquest.

132. The ISC and PHS invoiccs were not based upon acmal time incurred, expenscs, or

other tangible items. Instead, the invoiccs were based upon a variety of vague, ambiguous
, anll

sublective factors that I lalmos cûnsidcred in dctcrmining the amount to be placed on cach

month's bill. Gail Meycrs would then creatc the invoices based upon what Halmos told her,

without any supporting documents. W hen asked to provide the backup information supporting

tlw invoices, l'lalmos providtd random papers, none of which demonstrated how thc invoices

werc, actually calculated. There is no tvidence that IYC ever actually paid the invoices from lSC

and Pl'IS for which IYC requested 'treimbursement.''

133. 'I-ht ISC and PHS invoiccs conuined misrcpresentations, including that they were

for tsadministration, staff support and allocatvd ovcrhead'' and '%administraîion and logistical

support'' rclatcd to thc salvage of Legcc.y and her protection against loss. lYC and Halmos also

inttntionally conccalcd from 1NA that the invoices were not based upon actual timc incurred.

expcnscs, or othcr tangible items. IYC and Halmos intentionally submitted this false and

misleading infonnation to INA for the purpose of inducing reimbursement for expenses that were

not due and owing. Indced, Lisa Feagans tcstified that Halmos instructed her not tc produce

inter-company invoices sucb as f'rom PHS.

1 34. ln October 2008, IYC offered to permit INA to inspect records at the office of

IYC'S accountant. ln December 2008, IN A retained Oeorge Uhl, a forensic accountant, to bclp

organizc and track various materials (including spreadsheets and documcntation) related to tlw

claimcd cxpcnses. INA scnt Uh1 to Florida to meet with Oail M eyers at hcr ofl'ice to attempt to
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determine what had been submitted and to nbtain the information FNA had been requesting so

that INA could determinc whether the charges were covered under m A's policy. When Uhl

arrived in Florida, howtver, 1YC refused to permit him to meet wfth Mcyers.zl

135. INA continued to forward material to Uhl, who would attempt to correlate the lists

of expenses to the backup infbrmation provided, Uhl could not tsnd any backup documentation

fcr many of the entries on the IYC list of cxpenses, such as the Porschc or motorhome rentals.

Bascd on the work donc by Uhl, Pamtla I'Iarting-Forkey detcrmined whcther

sufticient backup documtntation txisted to warrant payment and whcther that documentation

established that the charges were covered under tbe INA policy, that is, whether thcy constituted

'Tsalvage'' or iTprotection against loss.'' She determincd that sufflcient backup documcntation did

not exist to dctcrmine whcthcr many of the rvqutsts were reasonable. necessan?, and covered

under the INA policy.

1 37. INA was ultimatcly requircd to subpoena rccords from alI the 1aw firms wbost

charges are at issue in this litigation- Ahvr Halmos had instructed Gail M eyers and Lisa Feagans

not to product thc ltgal bills, IYC and IYC'S counscl, Pillsbury, vigorously fbught the production

of those invoiccs in both this Court and in a Texas federal court. Production of the complete

invoices was only madc aftcr this Court rulcd that privileges had been waived for thesc rccords.

W hen Pillsbul.y tumed over invoices and some supporting documcntation, its claim tbr atlorneys

f'ees dropped by half a million dollars, Unbeknowmst to m A, the invoices for which INA

reimburscd 1YC contained work that was wholly unrelated to the negotiation of the NOAA

agreement, such as work on a contract dispute with Patton M arint, work on a contract disputt

êI Although Ilalmos testified that he had an d'open door policy'' with INA and it ''could
send anyone down at any time, with or without notice'' to his accountant's office to review the

backup documentation, the Court credits Uhl's testimony that he was not pennitted to meet with

Meyers aftcr hc travelcd to Florida for that putw sc.
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with Rybovich M arine
rzz the ACE Insumnce matter. Monroc County Citations, and the llalmos

dispute with Alan Cutler. The ACE insurance work for which reimbmsement was sought

included t'work on bad faith aspvcts of ACE claim'' and even development of an CSACE

tplaybook.''' IYC'S rvimbursemcnt requests included researching Floricla 1aw on unfair claim

practiccs and bad fbith as carly as November 2006. IYC and Halmos intentionally submitted

these reimbursement requests for items that were not covercd undcr the 1NA policy to obtain

nmounts that were not due and owing, and accepted INA'S paymcnt for amounts that were not

due and owing.

Thtsc legal itwoices demonstrate that the $557,070.66 already paid by lNA

txtttdtd thc total amount öf Pillsbury's Iegal fees through January 5, 2007, the datc the NOAA

agreement was executed, fnr al1 work done by Pillsbury on â'the yacht Legacy'' mattery whvther

relatcd to the NOAA negotiations or not.

1 39. llad INA known that tht check registcr included unrelated matters that were not

covered tmder lNA'S policy, INA would not have advanced the $557,070.66 in Iegal fees,

140. On or about February 19, 2009, after this lawsuit was filed, lYC began shipping

unorganized boxes of documentation to INA. This was the first time that 1YC sent supporting

documcntation for its salvagt and protection against toss reimbursement requesa to INA.

14 1 . On February 24, 2009, March 4, 2009, and August 1 1, 2009, 1YC sent INA

additional submissions. n cse boxes containtd no dtscription, organization, or manner by which

INA could determinc what was being submiued, why it wms being submitted, and how it relattd

to any coverage under INA'S policy. Per Halmos' specific instruction, legal bills and inter-

company invoices were not produced.

22 'rhough Halmos testificd at trial that these billings were rclated to the Hurricane W ilma

claims, he admitted that the litigation related to tht Patton and Rybovich claims had commenced

prior to Hurricanc W ilma.
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142. lYC submitted additional dncumentation as the present litigation continued
. Sevcn

mort lists of expenses wtrz alsc scnt by IYC. TNA forwarded thesc documents to Uh1 for review

and inclusion in a spreadshect he compiled from al1 of the information he was rcvicwing. INA

then revicwcd the Uh1 spreadshcet to determinc if suftlcient infonnation existed to pcrmit

payment. This proccss continued through Febnmry 201 1 and INA continued to make payments

as it obtained documvnmtion fiom IYC.

143. During the course of this litigation, Gail Mtyers created a spreadshcet rcflecting

costs incurred by lYC in connection with Legacy. M eyers admitted that she did not know when

these charges werc submittcd to INA. n is spreadshett did not assist INA in adjusting the claim

iw caust it, too, failed to includc supporting docamentation. Further, llalmos nevcr informed

Meyers that Pillsbury reduced its previously paid bills by half a million dollars. and tbus Meyers'

spreadsheet did not reflect the deduction.

144. INA paid for all claimed salvage charges and protection against loss expenses tbr

which IYC proyidtd sufficicnt suppoding documentation or adcquate explanation to establish

that a charge was a reasonable and necessary salvage charge or protection against loss cxptnse

under the policy. When paymcnt was madez Uh1 would update his spreadsheet, and a copy of thc

sprcadshect was forwarded to lYC so it could determine what was being paid,

145. IYC did not provide b0th spreadsheets and supporting documents in any organized

and understandable format until September 2010 and January 201 1 - after the clost of discovery

in July 201 0. The information contained in thosc documents existed prior to the discovery cut-

off date, but Halmos did not authorize its disclosurc until this point. The only explanation IYC

offtred as to why the claimcd costs were covcred under the policy was Halmos' general

statement at trial that the expcnses were for isnecessary stcps to protect Legacy and - and relocate

her from the marinc sanctualy'' Trial Tr. vol. 8, 90:24-91 :3 M ay 16, 201 1 ,
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Not atypical of the claims made werc many of those in Exhibit 286-A as

'fsupporttd'' by Exhibit 286-C. Numtrous ittms tbtrein were for charges incurrtd prior to

Hurricane Katrina. tlw bill for the annual renewal of the boat registration and other items tither

obviously not covered or not supported with any relationship to hunicane damage.

1 47. Plaintiffs prcsented no evidence establishing that any spccific charge was

reasonable and necessary for salvage of f egacy or for protection against further Ioss. Plaintiffs

also failed to offtr any expert testimony supporting thcir claimed charges for salvagc and

rotectioll against loss.23P

148. In addition to withholding information necessary to adjust tht fegacy-Wilma ctaim,

IYC and Halmos attemptcd to stek reimbursement for costs thcy knew were not recoverable.

1YC and Halmos submittcd approximately $4 million in legal bills from Merideth Law Firm to

1NA for rcimbursement. 1YC and Halmos represented that those fecs wcre for iiLegal and Legal

Support Services'' rclated to salvage and protcction against loss of Legacy due to Hurricmw

W ilma. Ex. A-4. This was the only description provided on each legal bill.

149, The M erideth invoices, howevcr, were not for legal services at all
. David Meùdeth

admitted that he did not ptrform this work. that ht did not know anything about it
. that he did not

supervise it that his office did not generatt lhc invoice
, and that he was not paid for the work. In

fact, hv had never even seen tht invoiccs.

The M erideth invoices instead were for Pder Halmos' own time
, tts well as time

spent by his cmployees purportcdly under the supcrvision or Robert Am old
, a Florida lawyer.

73 W here IYC did provide INA with cvidence that a claimed cost was reasonable and
ntcessary to salvage, INA quickly agreed to the cost and even offered to pay the cost directly

.

Where lYC paid the costs directly, INA would provid: prompt reimburscment
, assuming IYC

provided the required documentation and complied with tht terms of tht authorization to makc

the expense. In the case of the Toyo pump, for example, IYC failed to provide information about
how much it was uged and failed to return thc pump to INA aher its use

. Nonetheless, INA
reimburscd 1YC for the pump.

34
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Halmos did not provide any documents rcflecting Arnold's own work and billing on the mattcr,

though he was specifically given the opportunity to do so.N llalmos is not a lawyer.

151. Halmos did not provide any credible explanation for how he determined the amount

of each invoicc for his and his employees' time. Timt was not kept on an hourly basis or at m:

hourly rate. Halmos instead listed a variety of vague, ambiguous, and subjective factors that he

considtred in dctcrmining the rlmount to be placed on each month's bill. W hen asked to providv

the backup information supporting the invoices, Halmos showed random papers that did not

demonstrate how the invoicc was calculated. He had no time glips or other supporting

invoices/information.

152. Halmos also never informcd INA that the invoices for his and his vmployces' time

were never actually paid by Plaintiffs. I-lalmos instructed Gail M tytrs not to provide any

supporting documcnts rtlated to these claims to INA.

153. Only aher David Mcridelh admitttd in a deposition that he had notbing to do with

the work retlected in the M eridtth invoiccs - as Halmos knew a11 along - did plaintlffs withdraw

the claims rtlated to those invoices.

V. HALM OS' PERSONAL CLAIM FOR REIM BUM EM ENT OF EXPENSES
ALLEGEDLY INCURRED TO SALVAGE AND PROTECT LEGACY

1 54, Halmos did not have his own insurance policy with m A, but he allcges that INA

told him that he was personally required to protect L egacy and her crew following Hurricane

W ilmas and that hc is duc rcimbursement for his effoErts.

l 55. On Octobcr 24, 2005, tlw day Hurricane W ilma hit, Halmos spoke with Janct

Thomas ('%Thomas''), who was then a marine claims specialist for ACE. Thomas stated her

interaction with Halmos was in his capacity as a rcpresentativt of tht comoration.

24 As notcd, supra, Amold was not called as a witness.

35
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l 56. ln said capatity, Halmos requested assurances that INA would make certain

payments before he incurrcd charges assûciated with rescuing the vessel and crem

1 57. In response, Thomas sent lYC a letttr, addrcsscd to Halmos as IYC'S authorizcd

agent, consrming their conversation. Thv lettcr lists the insured as ç'International Yachting

Chartars. Inc.'' Ex. G-12. Thomas contirmcd her intent to seud the letter to 1YC throujh its

authorized agent,

158. X-homas nevtr told Halmos that he, in his personal capacity, had to take any stcps or

actions to protect Legacy and her crew. To the contrary, all of m A's communications were

direcîed to I'lalmos as IYC'S authorizcd agent. After all, who else could INA communicatv with

as it regards the insurcd?

159. In fact, although l-lalmos remained with f egacy, he wa.s not personnlly involved in

tlw salvage activities,zs Halmos made statements to Harting-Forkey consistent with Exhibit A-1

wherein hc is quoted as saying, ''we tlsh, wt scuba-dive, we look for shells'' - ttall in all, it's not a

bad way to live.'' Trial Tr, vol. 1 6, 146: 16-21 Junt I , 29 1 1 (refening to Ex. A- l , p. 7).

160, Further. INA made clear to Halmos that hc could leave L egacy. Harting-Forkey

even offercd to discuss INA taking over thc salvage operation with her superiors, but lYC

rtfused.z:

161 . ln shol't, 1NA never reqaired Halmes to remain at the salvage site. He remained

thcrc only because he chose to. See Jlfprc. ! 8, n. 2.

21 Although Halmos testitled that he participated in the salvage work, the Court finds
crcdiblc Allen Byrd's contrary tcstimony that I-lalmos did not. Halmos did obscn'c or supcrvise
remcdiation work John Cöftln performcd aller Legacy was extracted from thc naturc preserve,

but this was 'kpost-salvage'' work.

76 Halmos pointed to an e-mail Harting-Forkey scnt him in June 2007 as evidencc that he

was not allowcd to leavt L egacy, but thc Court disagrees with Halmos' oharacterization of the e-

mail,

36
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162. Moreovcr, as discusscd abovc, Halmos ncver provided adequate documentation for

any personal txpcnses ht claims to have incurred . to salvage and protect f egacy following

Hurricane Wilma. Nor did Halmos provide dncumcntation sufficient to establish that any such

expensts were reasonable and necessaty for salvage and protection against loss or that Halmos'

ex>nses werc covcred under the INA policy.

HALM OS' PERSONAL CLAIM  FOR UNR ST ENRICHM ENT RELATED

TO NOAA NEGOTIATIONS

163, Halmos allegts that rNA was unjustly cnrichcd by his et-forts to negotiate a

stttltment agretment with NOAA.

164. As notcd above, because Legacy was groundcd on a nature prcserves Halmos and

his attonwys negotiated agreements with NOAA to govem the removal of f egacy. Halmos,

individually, is not a party to the agreemcnt between NOAA and IYC, and he provided no

consideration for that agreement.

165. Neitbcr NOAA nor the State of Florida cver filed suit against Halmos, Halmos is

not insured under the INA policy, and Halmos presented no evidcnce that such a claim would

have been covtrtd undcr thc applicable insurance policy. The rcleasc of such claims, which are

not covered under fNA'S policy, conferred no benttit on m A.

I-lalmos also failcd to present any evidenct that any lmount would have been due

and owing to NOAA or thc State of Florida dut to the grounding of Legacy.

167. Even if this Court were to accept that INA received some sort of indirect benefil

hom the NOAA contracts, there can be no dispute that plaintiffs also received a benefit.
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

BURDEN OF PROOF

The policits involved in this case arc maritimc insttrance contracts, In the

absence of an applicablt substantivt admiralty rulv, state 1aw govtms the disputes. Wilburn Boal

Ctz p, Fireman :9* li'und lns. Co. , 348 U.S. 3 1 0, 32 1 ( 1955). With respect to procedural matters,

federal Iaw governs. 28 U.S.C. j 2072.

2. Undtr Plorida law, to prevail on a breach of contract claim, the plaintiff must

establish: (1) a valid contract; (2) a mattrial breach; and (3) damagts. Friedmtm p. N. lr L# lns.

Co.b 985 So. 2d 56, 58 (F1a. 41 DCA 200s).

In the context of a bxach of contract claim involving an imsttrance policy, the plaintiff

bears the burden of prtwing that a particular claim is covered by ttx policy. See LaFarge Corp. v.

lkavelers /zi#cpt ()b., 1 1 8 F.3d 1 51 1 , 151 6 (1 11 Cir, 1997.); N '/vdr Ina, f%. v. Broward Ctpl-l

Sher#% O'ce, 42S F. Supp. 2d 1284, 1288 (S.D. Fla. 200$; E Fla. Sclz/ïrlg /ac. v. f exingïon fztt

Co., 91 3 So. 2d 673, 678 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005); I-lollm ood F%ing 5'dr1',, lac. 3'. Compass Ja-ç. Co.' 597

F.2d 507, 508 (5th Cir. 1 979).

The plaintiff also 1x+  the burdcn of proving his damages. See, e.g., A-aow/es' v.

C.L 7: Corp., 346 So. 2d 1042, 1043 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) ('<It is elementmy that in order to recovcr on

a claim for breach of contract thc burdtn is upon the claimant to prove by a preponderance of thc

evidcmx the cxistencr of a conlzzmt, a bmath themof and dnmages Ilowing fz'om the breach.');

Exhibitor, Inc. v. Nationwide Mul. Fire /aJ. Co., 494 So. 2d 288, 289 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) C1n a suit

to recover under an insurance policy, the insured must prove that the loss did occur and that it was

within the coverage of the policy-n); cf Uu$'z'1z1 Cas. /nJ. Co. v, Shnltonb 932 So. 2d 605, 608 (Fla. 2d

38
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demonstrates that the insttrmwe broker was, in fact. thc insurer's agent. See, e.g., fb'ex Ins. Co.

v. Zota. 985 So. 2d l 036, 1048.49 (Fla. 2008); Amstar lns. Co. v. Cadetb 862 So. 2d 736. 739-40

(F1a, 5th DCA 2003); see 4/â*/ Cerlain Uat/erwz'//enç at L Ioyd's. L ondon v, Giroire, 27 F. Supp.

2d 1306, 1 31 3 (S.D. Fla. 1998) ('ithe general rule in the context of marine insurance (is) that a

broker acts as agent for thc insured''); G?.ec/ Lakes Rtrïas. (UK) PLC v. Màrales, 760 F. Supp. 2d

l 315, 1324 (S.D. Fla. 2010) lsamel.

IYC falled to present credible evidence sufficient to prove that Strickland wtts

IYC oflkred that would cven suggest that Stricklandacting as INA'S agcnt. The only evidence

was INA'S agent was Halmos' ttstimony to that effect. But that testimony was contradicted by

Halmos' own rcpeated prior statemtnts under oath as well as substantial contradictory

documcntary cvidence. Becatlse Strickland was not acting as INA'S agent,

communications with Strickland did not represent submission of a claim to INA. 'rhe fact that

Strickland was authorized to issut policies for IN' A (and other companies as well) does not

change that fact. Therc is no evidence in this record that Strickland did anything rcgarding thc

making or bandling of claims other than to forward same to the insurance company . . . acting as

agcnts for the insurcds.

Even if Strickland were lNA'S agent, 1YC failed to present tvidence e'stablishing

that IYC'S communications with Strickland constitutcd a claim, rather th%  merely providing

notice of loss. The evidence insttad consistently showed that lYC was specifically avciding

making a claim against INA. ub'ee FF !! 12-22.

12. Because 1YC failed to demonstrate that it submitted a claim to INA with respect

to the Sol allision, IYC failed to cstablish that INA brcached tht polky by not paying IYC for

costs resulting from that allision.

40
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16. 1YC did not provide the prompt notice required by the policy, Although IYC

knew of the Sol allision in 2901, it did not providc INA with notice of thc loss until at the very

earliest - vicwcd in a light most favorable to plaintiffs - on or about M arch 3 1, 2003, eighteen

months aher thc allision. This notice was not kiprompt'' by any dcfinition,

17. Givcn IYC'S delay in giving notice, prejudice to INA is presumed, and IYC

presented no evidence to rebut that presumption. By contrast. INA presented nmple evidcnce

consrmîng the presumption and showing that IYC'S failure to provide timely notice prevcnted it

from adjusting the claim. FF ! 23.

2. IYC'S Sol Claim 1: Not Barred By Lathe: Bteau:t of IYC':

Unreasonable Delay in Bringing a Claim

1 8. lNA also asserted the amrmativc dcfense of laches. See D.E. 976, p. 29. INA 1t11*

the burden of proof on this issue. Steward v. Int 1 Longshoreman 'â' Ass 'a, 306 F. App'x 527. 530

( l 1 th Cir, 2009)) Tello v, Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 494 F.3d 956, 974 ( 1 1 th Cir. 2007).

T0 establish laches, a party musl demonstratc i$( 1) there was a delay in asserting a

right or a claim, (2) the delay was not excusablt, and (3) the delay caused . . . lmdue prejudice.''

Unltedstates v. Barseld, 396 F.3d 1 1 44, 1 1 50 (1 1th Cir. 2005) (citing AmBrit, lnc. p. Krah, lnc. .

8 12 F.2d 1 53 l : 1 545 (1 lth Cir. l9s6)). '$1A suit in admiralty' . . . $is barrcd by laches only when

there has bcen both (1) unreasonable delay in the filing of th: libel and (2) consequent prejudice

to thc party against whom suit is brought.''' Fidelity & Casualty Co. v. C/B Arfr. Kim, 345 F,2d

45, 5 l (5th Cir. 1965) (citing Akers v. State Marine L ïa(?4', Inc., 344 F.2d 217, 220 (5th Cir,

1965:.

20. The Court finds that the evidence supports a tlnding that 1YC inexcusably delayed

in asserting a claim as to the 501 allision, but that INA has failed to providc sumcient proof of

prejudice due to thc dclay.

42

Case 4:08-cv-10084-STB   Document 1432   Entered on FLSD Docket 12/22/2011   Page 44 of 69



*

Case 4:08-cv-1O084-STB Document 1431-1 Entered on FLSD Docket 11/22/2011 Page 9 Of

33

Because the defense of laches is only rtlevant, however, if thv claim is one that is

othenvise covered under thc policy, and because the Court has found that the So1 allision is not

covcred dut to the failure of IYC to give INA timely notice of luss and to t'ile a claim , INA still

prevails.

111. IYC'S CLAIM  RELATED TO ISLAND RUNNER FM LS

A. IYC'S Claims for Salvagt and Protection Agaiast Loss Fail Because the

Claimed Costs Are Ntither Salvagc Nor Proteqtion Against Loss

IYC'S Claimed Cost: Are Not Salvage Costs Becau,e IYC Did N0t

Rtstue IslandRuttner from M aritime Peril

22. n c applicable policy covers 'isalvagt chargcs . . . incurlredl arising from a covcrcd

loss.'' Ex. 1 , IYC bcars the btlrden of showing thnt the claimed costs qtmlify as '*salvage charges.''

See supra p. 43.

23. tVsalvage'' is dctincd as thc compcnsation allowcd to persons who assist a ship at sew

its cargo, or both, and whose eflbrts result in saving the vesscl or cargo, ln whole or in part, from an

imminent maritimt peril. Sèe The Jeg rson, 215 U.S. 130, 139-40 (1909: The Blackwallb 77 U.S. 1 ,

12 (1 869); Fine p. Rockwood, 895 F, Supp. 306. 308-09 (S.D. Fla- 1 995). This Court has recogrlizcd

that 'dgtlht txistcncc of (a) maritime lxril is a necessary element for a valid salvage claim.g' Fine, 895

F. Supp. at J09.

24. 'tMarine peril'' exists when a ship is ''in a simation that might txpost her to loss or

destruction.'' 161 To esmblish maritimc mril, it must lY shown that t'thc vessel (was) in a situation

thas might expose it to Ioss or des% ction at the time the xerv/cttç are rcnderefi'' New Bedford

Marine Rescue, Inc, v. Cape Jeweler ',ç lnc., 240 F. Supp. 2d 101, 1 12 (D, Mass. 2003) (cmphasis

added). n ere are many situations that can qllnlify as marine peril - it(a) vessel ddvcn aground, on

rocks, shoals or rccfls is a clmssic example'' - but the common feature is that Vçdcstruction apN aruwd
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immintnt or almost incvimble.'' Fine, 895 17. Supp. at 309. n us, for txample. a vessel is in utmarine

pcril'' whtre it $çis at tlw memy of tlw sea and winds eitlwr as a result of collision or lack of motive

N wcr; where there is widesprcad fire aboard ship; whcrt explosions are likcly; where tht vesstl is

leaking with thc possibility of sinking; whcrt a vcsscl is stranded and being polmded by waves,'' 1d

liothcr examplts of peril include a listing fishing boat with a shihing cargo of herring; a vessel

moored to a buoy that was blown adrifk vessels in tow that have broken loose dlzring storms; a ship

drifting ncar shoal watcr flying disa ss sir als; an ancient abandoned shipwreck,'' ld

25. The fact that a vessel may recently have been in timarine peril'' is irrelevant if tbe peril

no longcr exists. elhus, the Elvventh Circuit recently concluded that a vessel was not in ''maritime

pcril.'' even though there were strong winds fwm a rccent hurrkmnc and the yacht was located next to

several broken concrete pilings, becatl.se the hunicanc was moving away, tht adverse weather

conditions wtrt tndings jmd tht yacht was atloat and secure in a mmina. Cape Ann Towing v. M 'Y

''Universal Lady, '' 268 F. App'x 901, 903 (1 1+ Cir. 2f)08); see also Fine, 895 F. Supp, at 310

(œncluding that a submerged boat with a hole in her hull was not in mmitime pmil becatlse the

weather was clear, the sea was calm, the boat was securtd to a dock and had sdtled on a channcl

bottom).

26. None of thc claimed salvagc expenses here qualify under thc applicable policy.

Neither thc costs of the initial search nor those of the fourteen day South Caicos cruise to inspect

lsland Aikalldr qualify as salvage expenses because thtse dlbrts failcd to actually salvage the

vesstl. See FF !!1 33-36) see, e.g. s Klein v. Unidentsed lf'rerktW dt Abandoned Sailîng Ph'.çe/,

758 F.2d 1 51 1 , 1 5 l 5 ( 1 1th Cir, 1985) CA claim for a salvage award rtquires that thrge elements

be shown,'' including #'fsluccess in saving, or in helping to save at least part of thc property nt

risk.''); see also Jeza/.ç v. RM% Lusitania, No. 95-2057j 1 996 U.S. App. LBXIS 24973. at * 1 0-1 1

(4th Cir. Scpt. 17, 1996) (tilt is not what salvors offer or atttmpt to do that entitles them to
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compensation. but what they succeed in doing to the benefit of the propertyx'' (intemal quotation

marks omittedl).

27. Additionally, the costs of the fourteen day South Caicos cruise do not qualify because

lslandRunner wms no longer in 'tmarine perilnwhen the trip was taken. The cruise occurred aher 1YC

knew the vessel was secured at Customs and Excise in Cockburn I'larbor, South Caicos. See PF ! 34,

28. Accordingly, these tosts are not salvage expenses as a matter of law, and INA did not

breach thc applicable insurance policy by not paying them,

The Clalmed Costx Do Not Qualify a: Proteetion Againxt Los:

29. The applicable policy provides that 'ililf gthe) vcssel or other property covered by this

policy is dnmaged, (tht insured) must take aI1 reasonable steps to protect it t'rom further damage'' and

that 'tIINAJ will reimburse (the insured) fbr reasonable expenscs for protccting the property from

further damage.'' Ex, 1, p. 24.

30. IYC did not offer any tvidence showing that the claimcd costs were reasonablc and

nccessary to protect the vessel t'rom furthcr dm age, See FF ! 36.

3 1 . IYC therefore was not cntitled lo these costs as 'lprotection against loss,'' and lNA did

not breach the applicable insurance policy by declining to pay them.

B. IYC'S Claim is Also Barred Because It M aterially Breached it Contract

By Failing to Copptratewith 1NA During the Claims Adjudtment Process

32. It is wcll established undcr Florida 1aw that the insured must cooperate with its

own insurcr. lf the failure to do so t'constitutes a matcrial breach and substantially prcjudices thc

rights of the insarer in ddknse of the causfq' the insurcr will be çrclcaseldj' . . . of its obligation to

pay.'' Rolyn Co-s', Inc. p.. R tf .1 ksb/exç ofTex. /nc, 4 12 F, App'x 252, 255 ( 1 l 'b Cir. 2() 1 l )

(quoting Mid-continent C.W.t Co. v. Am. Ptide Bldg. Co., L 1dC. 601 F.3d 1 143, 1 150 (1 1fh Cir.
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2010)). To invoke this nlle, the insurer must ltexercisel) diligence and gllokt faith in sceking to

bring about the cooperation of the insured'' and must 'tin good faith compllyl with the terms and

conditions of the policy.'' Mid-continent Cas. Co. , 60 1 F.3d at 1 1 50 (citations omittcd); see also

Ramos v. kVw. JHut. 7n.ç. Co., 336 So. 2d 7 1, 75 (F1a, 1 976).

This obligation is conErmcd in the ten'ns of the applicable policy, which provides

that t'talny person making a claim must,'' nmong other things, Gcooperate with us (i.e., INAJ in

the investtgation, settlement or deftnse of any ctalm or suit undcr this policy.'' Ex. 1 , p, 24.

IYC failed to cooperate regarding the property damage claim regarding the value

of the vcssel as noted, supra.

INA was substantially prejudiced by IYC'S failure to cooperate because it was

impossibte - six years atter the fact - to meaningfully assess the claimed costs and whether they

were reasonable and ntcessary undtr the appticabte policy provisions.

Accordingly, IYC'S failurq to cooperatt with IN A constitutcd a material brcach of

its contract and relieved INA ofits obligatinn tfl pay undcr the policy.

C. IYC'S Claim 1: Also Barred Betause It Voided tht Polity by

Committing Fraud

INA assertcd the afl-lnnative defense of fraud. See D.E. 976, p. 37, 1NA has the

burden of proof on this issue, Steward, 306 F. App'x at 530; Tello, 494 F.3d at 956, and must

establish each of 1he elements by clear and convincing evidence. See Fla. zf.$'.$'t)t-.t Capital

Enlers., L1.C v, Sundale, 1/J , No. 07-210 IG BKC-LM I, 20 l 0 Bankr. LEXIS 3642, at *37

(Bankr. S.D. Fla. Oct. 8. 2010).

Thc applicable insurance policy contninq a 'foncealment, M isrepresentation or

Fmud'' provision, which providts, in pertinznt pa'rt, that 1'(a)1l covvragt provided by us will bt voided

fiom the begilming of the Policy Period if you intentionally conceal or mi> present any material fact
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or circumstance relating to this contract of insurance
, or the application for such insurance. whether

before or alkr a loss.'' Ex. 1
, p. 23.

39. IYC brcached this provisîon because it misrepresented tho condition and value of

hlarld 'pnndr prior to the Ioss. IYC did not disclosc tht scrious mechanical issues titat had xisen in

the days befbre the loss
, even though it knew those mechanical issues would dramatically rtduce the

valut of the vtssel. See FF !r 31, 37-39.

40. INA detrimentally relied upon these material misrepmsentations and fail= s to

disclose in investigating, adjusting, and paying the lsland Azl/?acr propcrty damage claim. M a result
,

INA paid policy limits on thc claim whcn it othenvise would not havt done so
. See FF M( 41-42.

41. IYC'S intentional misreprestntation and concealmcnt of Lvland Runner's condition

and valut voided tht pnlicy, vitiating any duty on m A's part to pay IYC'S claimed costs
.

IV. HPC'S CLAIM RELATED TO M ONGOOSE FM LS

42. I4PC*s Mongoose claim sœks additional payments for salvage costs, l yond what

INA already paid tbr the repair of Mongoose and to tow and secure Mongoose aiter hcr grotmding

during Hurricaw Katrina. HPC has presented no evidence that lNA breachcd its contract with reslxct

to the pyment of the repair and salvagt expenses, and HPC is entilted to no further payments
.

Mongonse W as Not in Peril W hen the Claimed Cost: W ere Incurred

and HPC Failed to Show tlAe Claimtd Cflsts W ere Rkasfmable and
Nete:gary and Covered Under the Polley

43. As cxplained abovc, to mect itq burden concerning coveragc tmdcr the applicable

policy's %'Salvage Charges'' provision
, l4PC must provc that it incurred expenses that wex rcasonable

and nccessary to save the vessel
, in whole or in part, from an imminent maritime pcril. See yl/rrtz at

!i!I 23-26.

47
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44, fPC did not carry its burden of proof Evcry cost claimed by l lPC at trial was

incurred cithcr before Hurricane Katrina or J/er Mongoose was already safe and secure at Ptninsula

Marine. See FF j 8 1 . n crefore, none of tlwse chargcs msultcd in saWng Mongoose from an

invninrnt mmitime peril.

I'IPC also failed to establish that any of the claimed cxpenses - cven assuming they

wcrc somchow related to saving Mongoose from ptril - were reaxnablt and nectssazy
. At trial HPC

simply listvd various uxpenses, without making any eflbrt to establish why they wtre incurrcd
, and

how thcy resulttd in saving the vessel, in whole or in part, from an imminenl mmitimt >r11. See FF

si 81 . Nor did HPC offer testimony from any witness qualified to explain why thc chargts wert

reasonable and nccessary to save Mongoose from an irnmintnt maritimo > 111
. ln Tampa Ptzy

Shipbuilding. & Repair Co. p. Cedar Shipping Co. , 32O F.3d 12 13 (1 11 Cir. 2003), the Eleventh

Circuit atlirmed a finding that ship repair exm nses wcre rcasonable
. whexe extensive testimony

concenling reasonablcness was provided by wimesses with 'tparticularized knowledge'' of shipping

repair issues tigamered from years of txperience in the seldv'' 1d at 1223. n ere was no such

evidence prcscntcd with resmct to thc reasonablencss of H
.PC's asscrted expenses for ,vlngtlo.ve.

There is therefore no evidentimy basis for concluding that any of the approximately $86
.000 in

claimcd expcnses was rcnmrtable and necessary to save Mongoose tiom an imminent marint ptril o
r

to protect the vesse) hom further loss.

46. HPC also failed to pmduce any documents supporting its salvage charge claims (other

than the Novcmber 8, 2007 check register) until January 201 1 - over tlve years ahcr the incident -

despite l'NzN's spccilk and rtasonabk rtquests. See FF ! 79-80. Even thc Jarmazy 201 1 submission,

which was scnt fivc months aher tbe close of the discovec period
, did not providc sufficient

supm rting docttmentation to establish that the claimed costs were reasonable
, necessan', and covtrtd

43
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by thc policy, I1Pf:'s failure to coopcratt in the claims process precludes recovery under the policy
.

See afpr/ ! 32.

47. Accordingly, INA did not breach the policy by failing to pay the claimed costs
.

B. HPC Cannot Reeover the Addltional Claimed Cost: Because It Failed to

M itigate 11 Damages

48. INA asserted the aënnative defense of failute to mitigate
. Sce D.E. 976, p. 34. INA

has the burden of prkef on this issue. Steward
, 306 F. App'x at 530; Tdlo, 494 F.3d at 956.

lt is well cstablished lhnt an instavd has an obligation to mitigate its damages
, i.e.,

minimize its insured losses, See Am. Honte z1-&Jl/r. (-*0. v. Merck d. C0., 386 F, Supp. 2d 501, 51 6- 1 7

(S.D.N.Y. 2005); Reliance p/?.t Co. v, The Escqpade, 220 F.2d 432, 488 n. l 1 (5th Cir. 1960). n e

applicable policy hem had a ''Protection Against Loss'' provision
, which required the insured to ttake

at1 reasonable sttps to protect (tlw vessel'l ftom further damage.'' Ex. 4, p. 22.

50. FolloNving Hurricane Katrinaa Hongoose was on blockg at Peninsula Marine tmtil

Halmos decided to move the vessel to Merritt. n e only admissible evidcncc at trial was that IIPC

failed to repair the vessel promptly. lf klongoose were in lkperil
,'' it was not because of any cxtlinsic

circumstanccs; it was only because of the boatls nttd lbr repairs. See FF !,! 54, 58, 69. n us, HPC'S

claimed 'ssalvage'' c-osts continued to accnze well aqer the initial Hturicanc Katrina damagc only

bccause of ia failurts to timely make repaia. HPC should not bc rewarded for its own negligcncc
.

Furthermore, with rcsmct to a 'isalvage'' claim, it is difficult to fathom how a vesscl on blocks in a

yard could be subject to an imminent maritime peril.

Accordinglyj evtm ifany of the claimed costs wcre for ç'salvage'' or protection against

Ioss, HPC'S claim would still fail bccause it failcd to prevent the need for additional costs by having

the boat timely rcpaired.

49

Case 4:08-cv-10084-STB   Document 1432   Entered on FLSD Docket 12/22/2011   Page 51 of 69



Case 4:08-cv-1QO84-STB Document 1431-1 Entered on FLSD Docket 11/22/2011 Page 16 of
33

C. 11PC'S Claim ls Barred Beeause It Voided thk Pnliey By
Comm ittiug Fraud

INA asserttd tht e rmativt dtftnse of fraud. See D.E. 976, p, 37. INA b&q the

burden ofprœ fon this issue, Steward, 306 F. App'x at 5309 Tello, 494 F.3d at 956.

53. As above, the applicable insurance policy contains a 'foncealment M isrepresentatiûn

or Fraud'' provision which provides, in pertinent pad, that uLa)11 covemge provided by us w411 be

voided from thc Y ginning of the Policy Period if you intentionally conceal or misrepresent any

material fact or ci?cumstance relating to this contract of Insureance. or the application for such

insuranc'e, whcthcr k fore or atkr a 10%.91 Ex. 2, p. 23.

54. ln the proccss of %serting claims for propcrty dnmage to Mongoose. I-IPC engaged in

muhiple act.s of intentiona) concealment or misrepresentation of material facts, voidîng tlw policy

outright undcr thc foregoing provision, and thereby precluding recovery for the additionnl salvage

costs HPC now claims.

First, HPC failcd to disclost the SumrYacht Technologies liability survcy concluding

that the vesstl had not been properly maintained, that it had been neglected over a long period of timc,

and that thcx was no evidcnce of any htmicane or wind damage. See FF 11 65.

56. Second, HPC misrtprcstnttd that tht Mtrritt estimate was to repair only damagc

incurred as a result of thc hurrirmnes, even though HPC knew thnt the estimate also included costs to

ttnovate the vessd, as well as costs for rcpairs not covemd by the applicablc insurancc policy
, such as

gcncral maintenance and to repair preexisting damage. See FF !!:, 74-75.

Third. HPC failed to disclosc communications from Roy Merritt that thc majority of

the repairs needcd by Mongoose were the result of genctal wear and tear and were not directly related

to hurricane damage. kà'a FF M( 74-75.

58, Fourths HPC misrepresented that Mongoose was always properly maintained and in

exccllent/pristine condition bc fore t1w hurricants. See FF ! 75; see (#Jtl Ex. D-1 1 , p, 4.
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59. INA dctrimentally relied upon these false and misleading statements artd

omissions of material facts in adjusting tlw claim and ultimately paying HPC almost $400
,000

for property damagc to Mongoose. As a result INA paid HPC much more than it otherwise

would have had HPC been truthful and forthright in the claims process.

60. The intentional concealment, misreprescntation, and fraud committed by HPC

during the claims protess voids tht policy under its clear terms
, and precludes recovery of any of

the additional alleged costs HPC claims.

IYC'S CLAIM  RELATED TO LEGACYS W ILM A GROUNDING FAILS

A. IYC'S Cllims for Additional Salvpge Ctnt: Fail Bvcause the Claimed
Costs W ere Not for Salvage and 1YC Failed T: Prove Damages

The Claimed Cost: Are Not Salvagt Coâts

61 . As disctosed above, to meet its burden conceming covemg. e under the applicable

m licy's ftsalvagc Chargcs'' provisiow IYC must provt tIAM h incurrcd exptnsts l caust of assistance

rendered to Legœ-
.y that resultcd in saving the vessel, in whote or in part, from an impending sea peril.

'l'o carry this burden, 1YC must prove that salvage was continuing as of thc time when the claimed

expenses were incurred. See 47/pr/ !! 23-26.

62. Salvage of Legacy following Httrricane W ilma ended on February 24
, 2008, when

L egacy was removed from the Sanctuary. AlI witntsscs agreed that the vessel was brouglM to Key

West and placcd in a sectu'e anchorage. 71)c vesscl thtrefore w,as no longcr in imminent peril after

that datc. See FF ! 96-99. INA paid a11 reasonable and necessary expenses incurred lo remove and

sccure Legacy. See FF ! 95.

Evcn after Legacy's keel ççdropped,'' the boat remained secure and was clcarly not in

marine peril. FF j! 104-05.
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64. 1YC is not entitlcd to rcimbttrsemcnt for alleged salvage charges that accmed aNer

Febnmry 24, 2008. n erefore
, INA did not bremch its policy by failing to pay costs incurred after

L egacy was rcmovcd from the Sanctuary and securtd at the Key W est port
.

2. Evvn If Legaq was Stlll in Peril After its Remnval from the

Santtuary, IYC'S Chim Fails Because W C bid Not Demlmstrate
That Each Cost W as a Reasonable and Neceysary Salvage

Expense

As noted above, lYC Ix ars the burden of proof to establish its damages
, i.e., INA'S

railure to pay cos? that were reasonable and necessary to salvage f egacy
.

66, Notwithstanding its burden. lYC f'ailed to present evidence sufficient to establish the

amoum of its damages. Rather than presenting the Court whh itemiz
-ed exm lucs attached to backup

dotumcntation, 1YC simply directvd the Court to unorganized boxcs of materials that pttqxm edly

contain support tbr IYC'S claimed damages. See FF !; 140..42.

67. 'I-hat mcthod of proof does not suffice to establish dnmages. A plaintiff cannot

imm se on the Court the burden of sorting out the evidence and proving plaintiffs claims
. See, c.#.,

Ondine Shipping Cfyr/z 1z. Calaldo. 24 I?N.3d 353, 356 ( 1st Cin l 994) tfk(1)n otlr adversary system of

justice it is the parties' resmnsibility to marshal evidence and provc their points. Litigants cannot

cxpect the court to do thcir homcwork for them.%'); Foley v. City ofL Jwe//, 948 F.2d 10, 21 (1st Cir.

1991) ti%/hcn, as here. a fee target hxq fai' 1ed to offcr either cotmtervailing evidence or perstmsive

argumentation in support of its msition, wc do not th1111( it is tlw court's job cither to do the target's

homework or to take heroic measures aimed at salvaging the Grget from the predicuble

conscquences of self-indtllgent lassitude. As we have written before
, çcourts, likc thc 17e1+, are most

frequently moved to help those who help themsclves
,'') (citation omitted); Rufln-lhompkim' p.

Ekperian Info. &?&/#?rla, Inc. , 422 F.3d 603, 609-10 (7th Cir. 2005) t'dThe interrogatory answer was

included in thc mcord bdbre the district court- it was attached as an exhibit to Experian's motioa fo
r

sunvnary judgmcnt- but Ruffin--l-hompkins had the btlrdcn to point to this infommtion to show that
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a genuine issue of fk t existed; the disict court tneed not scour the record' to tind s
uch evidenct.'');

Laî@nders Assocs, Ac. v. Legal Research fltn
, lnc, , 1 93 F .3d 5 l 7 (5th Cir. l 999) Cn ese

documents wcrc buritd in the Appcndix to Lawfinders' bricf in support 
of it-s motion. which

contained ovtr ont thousand pages of documents
. Because the distrkt court was not required to comb

through Lavvfinders' voluminous apN ndix in scarch of cvidcnce on this eleme
nt, the district court's

tinding was not clearly erruneous.'). lndctd our own local rules embracc this very conccpt. See lmcal

Rulc 7.5(c)(2).

6s. IYC also failcd to provide the Court with testimony of any witne% qkuqlitled t
o

cxplain why the claimcd expenses wem I'easonable and nectssary to salvage the vessd
. See zppr/

! 45 (discussing îklmpa #cy'). A sNipowner cannoî simply submit an txpense and announcc that it

was reasnnable and necessary to save the ship. Only testimony from a person sufficiently exmritnctd

in salvage opcrations could assist the Court in understnding whrther
, how, artd why certain expenses

were nccessary for salvagt, and Teasonablt in amount. IYC offere  no such testimony here.

69. Because IYC failed to establish during trial that tach claimed cxpense is a reasonable

and necessary salvage charge, there is no basis fot concluding that INA breached the policy by filing

to my them.

B. IYC'S Claims f:r Proteetion Against Los: Costs Fail Because

lYC Failtd to Prpve that the Claimed Costs W ere Reasonablt
and Neeessary for Pratection Against Loss

As noted abovc, lYC bears the burden of proof to establish i1s damages
, i.e., lNA'S

failure to pay cose that were reasonablc and nectssary to protcd Legacy from further damage
.

n e applicable Policy had a uPmtection Against laoss'' provision, which required the

irisuzcd to tttakc a1l reasonablc sttms to protect (the vessel) from further dnmage
.'' Ex. 5, p. 25.

72, 'Fhis Court previously fotmd that there was no t'Protection Against Loss'' coverag
c

available under the 2005 policy for cxpenses IYC incurred after October 27
, 2008. D.E. 1237, p.
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l 6. n crcfbre. the only issue before the Coud is whether unzeimbursed protection against loss

expenses existed betbre that datc.

#kprotection Against Imss'' clauses
, lik: ''Sut and l-abor'' clauses in commcrcial hull

policies, are designed to cnsure that an insured ovvner exercises the same care as a prud
cnt uninsured

owner would. To that end, they prcmist reimburstmcnt tbr those expenditures which are made to

reducc or eliminatc a covercd loss, Reliance 3ztt Co. , 28û F.2d at 488) see also C()rl/ '/ Food #rtJ3'
.,

7hc. v, Ins. (70. ofN ,4,/., 544 r*.2d :34, 837 n. l (5th Cir. l 977) (following Reliance); Am. A/ërc/z

Marine pa... Cq t?/'?V. 1: v. L ib. u$Wa# d: Gravel Co
. , 282 F. 51 4, 519-29 (3d Cir, 1 922); Biap' v.

Cbesapenke 1a4. Co., 1 1 U.S. 415. 419 (18 l 3). This Court has previomly recognized thc purposc

lmderlying such a clatkse: 'W  sue and labor clause makes express the implied correlative duties

between insured and insurer regarding losses compensable under an ilvsurance policy 
. . . . (Nhe

insured has the duty of preventing a threatened insurable loss and mitigating such loss when it does

otcur. An insured who avoids or minimizes inmlmble loss acts for the benefit of the insurvr
, lt is the

benefit conferred which creates the duty on the part of the insurer to reimburse tlw insured for

prevention and mitigation exptlv s.'' Swire Cac. Holdings lnc. M Zurich /?1q Co. j 1 39 I*' . Supp. 2d

1374, 1382 (S.D. Fla. 2001), J#>#, 33 1 F .3d 844 (1 1+ Cir. 2003).

74. IYC prcsented no evidence that any specifc expenst it incurred was primmily for

the bendlt of the insurer to rcduce or eliminate a covered loss and that the expe
nse w'as

rtasonable and necessarily rclated to protecting Legacy from further damage prior to Octobtr 27
,

2008. Tillery 7 l 7 F. Supp. at 1486. Consequently. there is n: basis for concluding that lNA

bmached the policy by failing to gay these claimed costs
.
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C. Even if W C Had Proven Its Damages, Its Claim W ould Still Be Barred

Because lt Failed to Cooperate

As noted above, 1YC had art obligation tmder 1aw and the applicable policy to

cooperate with INA in adjusting the claim. &e supra ! 32. Failure to comply with that obligation is

a brcach of the policy that vitiates any duty on INA'S part to play the claimed expenses. ld

76. 1YC breachtxl its duty to cooyrate, repeattdly ignoring INA'S nllmerous requests

over thc course of years for information and documentation that would cnable INA to adjuts't the

claim. See FF !!r 107, 1 17-19, 121-24, 126-30, 134, 1 40. During the clainls process before this suit,

IYC failcd to idcntify or describe any of the following essential elements with respect to a single

claimed expense: (1 ) when it was incurred; (2) whether tlw charge was reasonàble and necessary; (3)

when it was presented to INA (other th% at triall; (4) the explanation or supporting documcntatinn

that accompanied tht chnrge; artd (5) how each chargc fell within the scope of covemge and why, lt

wa.s not tmtil after this litigatton was underway, three yenm after the last incident involvd  in this

lawsuit, that lYC txgan to produce the requested documcnttion, and at that point, it only produced

boxes of unorgalùzed documents without accompanying cxplrmntion of what thosc doctmwnts meant

and why they mcrited reimbursement as just discussedq much like they presented at trial. Even after

documcntation was snally submittcd, 1YC showed merely that it incurrcd and paid some expense for

somc, usually tmsubstantiated tlting, and that some fonn of documentation was sometimes tfar from

always) ultimately provided to INA. What the cxpcnse was, what the documentation was
, how it

relatcd to tlw expense, or why it showed that the expense wlts covertd
, werc matters lYC ncver

bothtrcd to addrcss. They were, however, cmcial to cstablishing coverage for the clnimcd expcnses.

IYC'S failure to coopemte with INA'S etlbrts to adjust the f cglcy-related salvage.

protection against loss, and propcrty damage claims rclieves INA of any obligation to pay thos:

claims.
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D. Even if IYC Had Establislled Damages
, IYC': Claim Is Barred Because

lt Brkached the W areanty of Seaworthiness and Violated the Policyls
Firt Prnteetion Requirement

lYC Breaehed the Absolute lmplied W arranty of

Segworfhiness

78. INA asscrted tlw aërmativc defense of breach or the absolute implied waranty of

seaworthiness. See D.E. 976, pp. 36-37.

Fedcral admiralty law implies an absolute warranty of seaworthiness into marine

insurance contracts. .9ee Conn. Indem. Ctz v. Palivodu, No. 8:04-CV-l044-T-24M SS
. 2004 U.S.

Dist. LEXIS 28709, at # 10-1 1 (M.D, Fla. Aug. 24, 2004). The warranty tdis an 'absolutc.

continuing, and nondelegable' incident of vcssel ownership.'' Bakqr v. Raymond faf 'I, lnc
n, 656

F .2d 173, l 81 (5th Cir. l98 1) (quoting Allett v. Seacoast Prods
kt lncv, 623 I7,2d 355, 364 (5th Cir.

1980:. Under this w'arranly, the insured i%rarrants to tlle insurer the seaworthiness of the vessel at

the inczption or atuchment of a timc policy.'' Lloydts US Corp. v. Smallwood, 1 l 9 F, Supp. 1540,

1549 (M.D. Fla, 1989) (citing Kilpatrick Marine Piling v. Fireman 'z Fund /?9.!'. Cowb 195 F.2d 940,

945 (1 1th Cir. 1986)). çt-rhe warmnty of seaworthincss has becn held to mcan ithat tlw vessel is

reaonably fit for the intended ttse.''' 1d. at l 549 (quoting Aguirre u Citizcns Ctzç. Co. , 44 1 F.2d l 4 l ,

144 (5th Cir. 197 l), cert denied, 404 IJ.S. 829 (1971:.

80. An insured that breaches tlw absolutv implied wmranty of staworthiness voids the

m licy ub faflfo (ts a matter of Iaw. See C'erflfn Underwriters tzf Lloyd's
, London v. Johnson, 124 F.

Supp. 2d 763, 771-72 (D.P.R. 1999).

81 . Undtr the absolutc implied warranty
, çûttlhe shipowner is liable for

unseawnrthiness, regardless of negligencc, whcnever the ship or 2.ç gear is not rcasonably fit for

the purpose for whith it was intendedx'' ltalia skpde/l per Azioni #f Navigaztotw v, Or.

Stevedoring Co. . 376 U.S. :5 15, 3 1 7 n,3 (1964) (emphasis added). A ship is unseaworthy when
,
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for examplc, it does not have proper footwear for sefmen to go ashore in th
e snow and ice, zee

Webb p. Dresser lndus
.k 536 F.2d 603, 607 (5th Cir, 1976), when it does not have a bathroom

and fails to instnzct about thc use of life preservers
, see Deal v. A.P. Bell F/.$'h Co., 674 F.2d 438,

442 (5th Cir. 1 982), or when a staging gives way because it contains a piece of dcfectivv rope
,

cven though thcre is sound rope on the vessel, see At/l/lafc/l p. Southern S.S. Co, , 32 1 U,S. 96,

105 (1 944). Living quarters that are tmsafe because of noxious fumes
, like those on L egacy are

unseaworthy. See Smith v. lthaca Corp., 6 1 2 F.2d 215, 2 1 9 (5th Cir. 1 980).

82. To cslblish brcach of this warrant
-?, an ingurer need not demons% te that the insured

had knowledge of the tmseaworthy condition or that the insured was at fault for failing to discover the

tmscaworthy condition, Palivoda. 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28709, at # 10-1 1 .

83. Furthermore, it makes no diflkrence whether the unseaworthy condiéon was a

proximate cause of the toss. See ztxïa' Reins. Co. v. Henley, No. 4:08cvl68-W CS, 2009 U.S. Dist.

LEMS 987 l 8, at *43-44 (N.D. Fla. Oct. 22, 2009) (citing Saskatchewan Gov 't /a.j'. Qglce p. Spot

Pack lnc. , 242 F.2d 385. 328 (5t11 Cir, 1957)) (cxplaining that brtach of absolute warranty voids

policy uahogether'' regardless of proximatc causc); accord Royal pnt/dlzt Co. v. Decp Sea lnt t 6 19 F.

Supp. 2d 14, 27 (S.D.N.Y. 2005 ($$The negativc implicd warranty of seaworthincss is narrowcr tI:M

tlw absolute waranty . . . tlsel it invalidates covemge only for loss or damage proximately

caused by the unseaworthy condition.'). Insteoqd, the mere fact that %'tlw vcssel is in fàct not

scaworthy at the inccption of (he policy'' is itsclf ttenough to discharge thc insurcr'' of liability
. Axis

Re/a-t (*-*0. v. Resmondot No. 8:03-cv-569-T-33TBM
, 2009 U.S, Dist. LEXIS 122778. at * 1 5 (M.D.

Fla. May 8. 2009) (intemal citation omittcd).

84. The unrebmted testimony at trial showed that Legacy was unscaworthy at the

inception of the policy. The conditions outlined in the March l 6
, 2005 letter established the
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Legacy's unseaworthiness. FF ! 84. That fact itself voids the policy undcr thc absolute implied

warranty of seaworthiness.

1YC Breachtd fhe Policy's Express Fire Prptection W arranty

Malitime law also recognizzs and enforcts exprtss warranties in marhime insurance

policics, An insured's failurc to comply with an cxpress warranty contained in the policy will void

thc policy and relieve thc instlrer of a1l liability for any asserted loss - even ifcompliance with thc

warr-anty would not have avoided the loss. f cxington ./H.C. Co. v. Cooke 's Seafooi 835 F.2d 1364,

1366 (11'h Cir. 1988)) Aguîrre v. Citizens Cas. Co. JJNL 1r, 441 F.2d 14 l , 143 -145 (5* Cir. 1 971).77

86. lYC voided 1he poticy by violating the policy's txpress tTire Extinguishing System

Agretment,'' That agreement provides: %iYou (IYCJ agree that your yacht is tquipptd with a built-in

and automatic systenz of tlre extinguishing apparatus
q properly installed in thc cnginc room and

maintained in good and efficient working ordcr.'' Ex. 5, p. 10. That provision rtquired IYC to have

a A'built-in and automatic system of firc cxtinguishing apparatus.'' Id

'1''ht Eleventh Circuiq examining a provision identical to the %'Firc Extinguishing

System Agreementv'' has held that thc instîrer was justifed in denying coverag: because of the

instlred's failure to comply with the provision. See Sttlmmel v. Ace Am, 1Hsî. C)o., 375 P. App'x 945,

946 (1 1lh Cir. 2010).

88. As described by Halmos himstlf in his March 16
, 2û05 lttter, Legacy was not

equipped with a properly maintained tir: prevtntion systcm . Ex. B-20. L egacy's halon system

çlwas short 60 lbs. of halon in each tnnk. -l''he shortagt rrnders the system insufscient for the

27 Although INA did n0t expressly plcad this affirmative defense
, it is not waived because

lYC improperly failcd to prûduce thc March 1 6
, 2005 letter, which is the basis for this defense

.See D.E. 13 19. In any evcnt, it is part and parcel ofthe unseaworthiness issue
.
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intended fire-fighting purpose
. A major tngine room lire would have jeopardized al1 aboard and

likewise Legacy.'' 14 at 7.

89. ln failing to imve a properly maintaincd t-built-in and automatiç system of tlre

extinguishing apparatus,'' 1YC failcd to comply with and breached the Stlzire Extinguishing

Sysîem Agreement.''

90. Accordingly, the applicable policy was void
. See Stammel, 375 F. App'x at 946.

E. IYC': Claim Is Also Barred Becausc It Committed Fraud and Veidcd

the Applirable Polity

INA asserttd the affirmativc defense of fhud. See D.R. 976, p. 37. INA hxru the

btlrden of proof on this issuc. Stewardi 306 F. App'x at 530) Telloà 494 F.3d at 956.

92. Thc applicable insurance policy contains the same lçconcealment M isrepresenution

or Fraud'' provision discussed above. Ex. 5, p. 37.

93. IYC committed multiple acts of intentional concealmtnt or misrepresentation in the

proçess of climing salvage, protection against loss
, and property dnmage costs for Legaty's

grounding as a result of Hurricane W ilma
, voiding the policy and precluding any rccovc? for thnsc

costs-

First, lYC misreprcscntcd Legacybs condition prior to the hurricant
, lkiling to disclose

E. xlïibit B-20 and the facts tontained within it at the insurance renewal and during the claims process
.

Sec FF !!) 84-85.

95. Second, 1YC willfully failtd tc disclose to lNA the ltmt 23
, 2006 Perini Navi cstimate

which was only a fmction of the property damage costs lYC was claiming
. See FF Mtf 108-10.

96. m A ddrimentally relied upcn these material misreprescnltions and failures to

disclose in investigating, adjusting, and paying the claim. As a result, m z: paid the $ 16 million

policy limie on the claim when it otherwise would not havt done so
, S<e FF IJ

witliolding of the Perini estimate also prevented INA from issuing a payment for 
property damage
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tmtil lNA could conduct its survey in 2008 w1t11 estimates fzom Perini
. Ex, V-13; Ex. 0-8. 1YC has

prestnted no tvidence tlmt INA breathed the conkact by these property damage pam ents.

'lNrd, IYC intentionally misrepresented that the Merideth I-aw Finn invoices were

iilxgal and Legal Support Services'' rclatcd tEo salvagc and protection against loss of Legacy duc to

Hurricanc W ilma, even though. the time was for Halmos
, a non-lawyer paltner in the District of

Colttmbia-based Mcrideth Law Firm, and his employees. See FF !! 148-50, The Court tsnds Mr.

Halmos' iyartnership'' in Washington D.C. of no significancc, as thc alleged work done (mld bllled)

wms done in Floridw not in D.C., and by Mr. l'lalmos' owm version of the fads
, was donc under

supervision of a Florida lawyer. n ere is no evidencc in this rvcord of that lawycrs' amliation with the

Meridcth Law Firm, ln making such reprcsentations. llalmos not only violated the District of

Columbia Rules of Professional Conducty see D.C. R, Prof Conduct 5.541) (prohibiting individuals

from engaging in the unauthorized practict of law in other jtlrisdictions, such as Florida); D.C. R,

Prof. Conduct 5.44$42) & (3) (the nonlawycr ln parmership vdth the District of Columbia taw

organization must t'abide by (the District of Columbia) Rules of Professional Conduct'), he violated

Florida law, see Fla, Stat. j 454,23 (4'Any person not licensed or otherwise authorized to practicc law

in this state who pmctices 1aw in this state or holds himsclf or herself out to the public as qualified to

pmcticc 1aw in this state, or who willfully pretends to be, or willfully tnkes or uses any namc, title,

addition. or dcscription implying that hc or sht is q'lrtlille-d
, or recognized by law as qualiGed, to

practice law in this state, commits a ftlony of the third degrec
, plmishablc as providt.d in j 775.082,

j 775.083, or j 775.084.*').

98. Fmlrth, lYC submittcd fabricated invcices from Mcrideth Law Firm
, ISC, and

Plls- invoices that rcflcctcd absolutely no legittmate attempt to account for the serviccs allegedly

rendertd aûd which requested :w imbumocmtnt'' for amotmts that lmd not been paid
. See FF !! 131-

33, 148-50.
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99. Fifth, IYC submitted invoices for attomeys' fecs for reimburscmcnt under INA'S

policy and accepted reimbursemcnt for tllcm
. when in fact the invoices included tkes incurred for

nltmerous other matters. v%ee FF !!!. l 37-38. INA detrimentally relied on IYC'S matcrial

misxpresentations in mnking that payment,

Accordingly, lYC cornmitted fraud, voiding the applicable policy.

F. Coverage W as Not Created or Expanded by Alleged Representae ng by

Dtfeudant's Represtntativts

1 01 . Many of Plaintiffs' claims fbr coverage beyond the scoN of the policy terms were

based on certltin ttreprtsentations'' allcgedly made by INA and its reprcscntatives
. To the extcnt

Plaintip' relies on tht doctrines of waiver and/or estoppel, tmder Florida law thesc doctrines may not

be am rmativcly ustd against an insurer to crcatc or exttnd coverage othenvisc lacking in the policy
.

.%ee Dot v. Allstate Ins. Co., 653 So, 2d 37 1 
. 373-74 (F1a. 1 995); A1U fAtt Co. v. Block Marina Inv.,

lnc., 544 So, 2d 998, l 00() (Fla. 1989); Crowa Lfe /nz, C0. v. McBride, 517 5o. 2d 660, 661 (Fla.

1987). n ere is only one narrow exception to this doctrine - t'promissory estopm l may be utilized to

create insurance coveragc whcrc to reftlsc to do so would sanction fraud or other injustice.'' Crowa
,

51 7 So. 2d at 661. This exception applies where the insurer engages in fraudulent conduct
, and the

insured relies to its dctrimcnt on that conduct. Id. at 662.

102. Initially, the Court notes that thc om rative pltading
, Plaintitrs' Fourth Amcndcd

Complaint, does not raise a claim for rtlief based on promissory estoppcl
, and although Plaintitl% did

raise an am rmative defense which might encompekss the doctrine of waiver
, it was strictly confintd to

Legiwy salvage claims. Even if Plaintifrs had raised promissory estopm l as a claim or defcnse
, the

exception discussed above is not appliçable to the facts of this case
. Indeed, Plaintiff Hatmos

recognized tlùs w'hen he testified that an INA reprcscntative requesting him to take an action oulide

of his policy 'idoes not change my policy.'' Trial Tr. vol. 1 1, p. 48: 16- 1 8 M ay 23, 201 1 . 1YC has not

adduced evidcnce establishing that INA engaged in tiaud. To tht contrazy, all of the conversations

6 l
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surrounding INA'S pam ent made clcar that INA would only make future payments if properly

supported and covertd under the applicable m licy. See FF !! 1 14-15. n ere is therefore no basis for

applying waivtr or tstopm l to cxtend ceoverage beyond tlw policy's terms.

l-lwre is likewise no merit to IYC'S waivtr argument baqed on INA'S alleged failvtre

to comply with Fla. Stat. 9 627.426(2). n at statute applies only to liability coverage, not first party

coveragc. See Graham v' Lioydqs Underwriters at L ondon
, 964 So. 2d 269, 272 n.2 (Fla. 2d

DCA 2007). Mortover, the Florida Supreme Court has sqlmrely rejtcted thc waiver argument 1YC

advances herc. Seit AfU /H.t Co., 544 So. 2d at 1000 (tin is court recently reiterated the geneml nlle

that . . . (estoppel) may not be used to create or extend coverage. We do not believe that it wxs the

legislaturc's intent that scction 627.426(2) change this long stnnding m1c.'' (civtions omittedl); see

also FD. Mun .??tç. Trust v. Yill. ofGolf 850 So. 24 544, 551 (Fla. 401 DCA 2003). Thus
, INA is nQt

rtquired to extend covtrage beyond tlm policy's clear tcrms.

G. No Remediltion Damwges Existed

104. 'IXc NOAA areement relemqcd IYC and Halmos gom al1 remediation damagcs. Sèe

FF $ 92. IYC presented no evidence that NOAA asserted arly other rtmediation claim after the

NOAA agreement w'aq executcd.

l 05. Evtn had NOAA presented a remediation tlaim
, INA paid Robcrt Nailon's

remediation estimate tts soon as INA leamed of it. See FF ! 93. Furthcr, 1YC never prescmed any

evidence that any other remediation exmnses existed
, were reascnable and necessay and were

covered by the Applicable policy. 'lxerefore, INA did not breach the contract related to IYC'S

remediation claim.
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VI. HALMOS' PERSONAL CLAIMS ARE W ITHOUT M ERIT

106. Halmos contends, in his personal capacity
, that INA breached duties to him azising in

qtlasi-contmct or tmjust enriclvnent in two respects. First Halmos contcnds that INA rcquired him to

personally protect L egacy from further loss during Hurricatw Wilma and aher she was grounded
,

wlkch benefited 1NA by avoiding furtlwr losses. Second, Halmos conœnds that INA w.as unjtstly

enriched by his settlement with NOAA. Neithcr claim has merit.

107, A claim tbr ql:nqi contract (otherwise known as kmjtlst enlichment) exists where %:() )

the plaintit'r has conferred a benetlt on tlw dtftndant; (2) tlw deftndant 1:% knowtedge oftht btnetit;

(3) the defendant has accepted or retained the benefit confcrred and (4) the circumstances are such

that it would be inm uitable for the defendant to rttain the benefit without paying fkir value for it
.
''

Commerce P 'ship 8098 Ltd P :v/lf> v. 1.% uity Ctm/rtv//zlg Co., Inc, 695 So. 2d 383, 386 (Fla. 41

DCA 1997).

103. A plaintifr has no claim for unjtkst enrichment where thc defendant was only

incidcntally benefittcd by tlw plintitrs actions. Eller A'/e#fa Corp
, At Nat 1 &W/fm Fire Jn.ç. Co. 4/

Pitts., 355 F. Appgx 340, 342 (1 1114 Cir. 2009) lper curiam); Nova Info. .Sys., fnc. v. Greenvich /rtws'.

C'0., 365 F,3d 996, 1007 (1 11 Cir. 2004: Tooltren4 lnc. v. C5f1' Utensili, SRL , 198 F.3d 802,

807-.08 (1 1th Cir. 1999). itfloestimtion is not available under an unjust enrichment theol for a

bencfit corlfcrred as an incidcnt of a plaintilrs having acted primarily for his or her own benellt
,
''

Eller A<tW/W Corp. . 355 l7, App'x at 341 (quoting 66 Am. Jur. 2d Restitution and Implied ta''tm/rlc/.s'

j 13 (2010:. 'I11e Middle District of Florida has explained the mtionale for this rule by analogy: tblt-

(incidental benefits) were compensable, tlwn Florida I-lospiml might have a valid claim against

evcrm ne cvcry time it vaccinated a child bccause such vaccinations
. the classic illustration of what

(an incidental benefit) is, reduce the ability of vinBcs to exist in the population, thereby bcnestting

every lnember of the population,'' Advenlist Heallh Sys./stmbelt Inc. v. Med tRrp/ag.ç Im.. Co., No.

6:03-cv-1 121-Or1-1 9KRS, 2004 U,S. Dist. LEXIS 30976, at #20 n.8 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 8, 2004).
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Izor each of his personal claims
, l'Ialmos failcd to demonstratc that INA obtined

any non-incidental benefit from his actions.

Halmos Did Not Prûvide Any Benelk To 1NA Atting ln Hi:

Ptrsonal Capacity

1 10. Halmos contends that INA was unjustly enrichcd bccause Halmos was instructed

that hc personally had to take actions to prottct Legacy from furthtr loss
, Thtre is no evidence in

this record to support that Halmos had anypersonal involvcment in this case at the requvst of, or

acquiescence of l'NzN.

The uncontradicted evidence showcd
, howtver, that 'I-homas always interacted

with Halmos only as the solcly authorized agent for IYC
. FF j!( 155-58, Accordingly, any

aotions llalmos took to protect f egacy werc taken in his capacity as authorized agent f
or IYC,

The policy did require that IYC protcct Legacy from furthcr loss
, but 1NA paid IYC for a11

attions reasonable tmd necessary to protcct Legacy from furthcr damage whcn the co
sts of such

actions were submitted with suffkient documentation/explanation
. S<e FF !!1 142. l 44.

1 12. Halmos, atting in his personal capacity
, thus did not confer any beneGt on INA.

Thc protection against loss was provided solely by IYC
, pursuant to its contractual obligation,

and INA satisfied i1s counter-oblsgation by paying full value for the strvices lYC provid
ed that

were reasonable and necessary and submittcd with suflicient documentation/explanation to

establish covcragc under the policy
.

B. Halmos' Penonal Claim Based on the NOAA Settlvments Fails

Halmos claims INA was anjustly eluiched by his negotiation of the NOAA

agreements. This claim f-ails for multiple reasons.

l 14. First. Halmos did not confer any benefit on 1NA at all
. The agreement he

negotiated did not extinguisb any claim NOAA might have had against INA
. The agreement

simply assigned such a hypothctical claim to Halmos
. Halmos remaincd ti'ce to assert this claim
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against INA. Halmos indccd gought the assignment specifically so ht could use the claim as

leverage. See FF !! 90 (found at Ex. C- 1, p. 7
, ! 4,1). Halmos' negotiation thus did not confcr a

bcnefit 0rt m A, but insttad txpostd it to fttrther liability
, if anything.

1 15. Second, TNA did not rtceive any benefit from the NOAA agrcemtnt with Halmos
.

Halmos obtained the rcleasc of claims NOAA had against Halmos
, which arc not insured under

INA'S policy. Moreover, any benefit INA could have rcccived from thc NOAA agreement would

bt wholly incidental to the benetsts Halmos himself received
. Halmos negotiated his ptrsonal

agrecment with NOAA in order to release any claim NOAA might have been able to bring

against him , and he extinguished tbat claim in his agreemcnt. See id,

Thirda the value of any allcgcd benctlt is completely speculative. â%W hether

damages are speculative must be determined by inquiry into both causation of the dnmage and

measurtmcnt of damages.'' Aldon /atf, lnc. v. Don A'J#e?*l dr Assoc., Inc,, 51 7 F.2d 1 88, 1 91 (5th

Cir. 1975) (Flcrida law). The term Npeculativc'' essentially characterizes the evidence

introduced to provc tht damages - if the evidencc does not dcmonstrate with 'treasonable

certainty'' that the plaintiff suffered damages as the natural and proximate rcsult of dcfendant's

wrongful conduct thcn thc asstrtcd dnmagts are speculative Imd cannot be recovered. 161. The

amounl of damag. es, in particnlar. must be proved to a reasonable certainty and not left to

speculation or conjecture. /#. (citing Travelers lndem. Cf). v. Peacock Constr. Co. , 423 F.2d

1 1 53, 1 157 (5th Cir. 1970)).

Neither NOAA nor the Slte of Florida ever brought a natural resource damage

claim against l'lalmos. F urther, Thomas Campbell testified that the smtute of limitations on thc

NOAA claims had expired. Halmos therefore could not show that his settlemcnt efforts unjustly

enriched INA to any reasonablc certainty, nor could he establish any amount of avoided loss by

any reasonably ccrtain amount. Thc benctlts. if any
, wcre entircly speculative.
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VII. PLM NTIFFS' DECLARATORY JUDGM ENT CLAIM  IS

W ITHOUT MERIT

1 18. Plaintiffs also bring a claim for declaratory judgment
, seeking a declaration that

they are entitled to recovery under the applicable policics
,

1 19. For a11 of thc fbregoing reasons
. plaintiffs' claim for declmutoty judgment fails.

Plaintiffs have failed to establish coveragt under the applicable policics; plaintiffs havc failed t
o

prove damages; and INA has cstablished that plaintiffs voided the policies through their failure to

cooperate and thcir various misreprestntations,

W lI. 1NA IS ENTITLED TO A DECLAIG TORY JUDGMENT THAT 1NA
HAS FULLY PAID ALL AM OUNTS DUE PLAINTIFFS

120. INA also brought a cotmttrclaim for declaratory judgment, seeking a declaration

that it has paid a11 amounts due plaintiffs.

For a1l of the foregoing reasons, lNA is entitlcd to this declaration. INA paid a11

reasonable amd necessary expenses for which supporting documentation was provided
. and it has

thu.s satisfied its obligations under the policies. INA has not breached its contxacts with

Plaintiffs.

IX. PLM NTIFFS CANNOT SUCCEED ON A CLM M  OF CONFESSION
OF JUDGM ENT

122. Plaintiffs maintain that payments by INA constitute a ifconfession of judgment''

undcr what they contend is applicable law that partial payment waivcs coverage detknses
, See

Plft's Proposed Findings and Conclusions of Law (D.E. 141 4) at !!r 61-63. Although this was

ncver plcd in the Fourth Amended Complaint
, the answer to the Counterclaim, nor othenvist

propcrly pled prior to trial,2' this Court disagrees with the argument in any event
.

28 This, in and of itself
. may be a basis for dcnial.
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123. Dcfcndanl has maintained coverage defenses
, and alleged affirmativt defcnses.

including fhud, throughout out this litigation
. See D.E . 976. 'rhat makes this case distinguishable

from the cases relied on by plaintiffs
, such as Saewitz v. Lcxington /zr-çlgrclice Company, 133 F .

App'x. 695 (1 lth Cir. 2005) tand others)
, which is cited tbr thc proposition that tkmonty paid by

an insurer to insureds as partial settlement of the insmed's claim 
constitutes an admission of

Iiability by thc insurer'' (Plf.'s Proposed Findings and Conclusions of Law 
at 116 1 ). Plaintiffs

1
overlook thc following language in Saewitz: 'tl

-exington did not prescrve its right to contest

covtrage, Ltxington could have made its partial payment with a restrvation of rights, alltgvd an

affirmative defense of fraud or mistake 
. . . or lllcd a counttrclaim . . . .'k Id. at 699. The Florida

Supreme Court case plaintiffs rcly on is even lcss applicablt
- The case of Wollatd v. Lloyd's and

Companies t?f Lloyd ',ç, 439 So. 2d 2 1 7 (F1a
. 1 933) is a situation whcre thc case was settled. lt did

not involvc partial payments at all
. None of the other non-binding cases cited by plaintiffs caus

t

them to fare any bettcr
. See (/W?'?c# ,5'erv-s'. Auto. zLo* 'a v. Kindh 49 So, 3d 807 (l2ta. 5th DCA

2010). rcv. denied' 65 So. 3d 51 6 (Fla. 201 l); Vanguatd Fire tt: Cas. Co. v. Golmon, 955 So. 2d

591 , 594 (F1a. 1st DCA 2006).

CONCLUSION

W HEREFORE
, ît is htreby ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Court finds in

favor of Defendtmt/counter-claimant INA and agai
nst Plaintift*s/counkr-Dcfendants IYC

, 14PC

and Pvter Halmos @ro .$.e) and awards no damages to Piaintiffs in a
ccordancc with the terms of

this Order.

DONE AND ORDERED in
J./

Chambers at Miami
, Flori 's Way of November

.

ST N -
C D STATES M AGISTRATE JUDOE

cc1 Counscl of record
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